**Christoph Wolf, BSc** 

# Investigation on Resistive Switching of Metal-Organic-Metal Thin Film Devices

## **MASTER THESIS**

For obtaining the academic degree Diplom-Ingenieur

Master Programme of Technical Physics



### Graz University of Technology

Supervisor: Ao.Univ.-Prof. Dipl.-Ing. Dr.techn. Emil J.W. List-Kratochvil Institute of Solid State Physics

In cooperation with: NanoTecCenter Weiz Forschungsgesellschaft mbH

Graz, September 2014

### **EIDESSTATTLICHE ERKLÄRUNG**

#### AFFIDAVIT

Ich erkläre an Eides statt, dass ich die vorliegende Arbeit selbstständig verfasst, andere als die angegebenen Quellen/Hilfsmittel nicht benutzt, und die den benutzten Quellen wörtlich und inhaltlich entnommenen Stellen als solche kenntlich gemacht habe. Das in TUGRAZonline hochgeladene Textdokument ist mit der vorliegenden Masterarbeit identisch.

I declare that I have authored this thesis independently, that I have not used other than the declared sources/resources, and that I have explicitly indicated all material which has been quoted either literally or by content from the sources used. The text document uploaded to TUGRAZonline is identical to the present master's thesis.

Datum / Date

Unterschrift / Signature

### Acknowledgements

I would like to express my gratitude to my supervisor, Professor Emil J.W. List-Kratochvil for making this work possible and his valuable advice and help whenever necessary.

I want to thank Stefan Sax and Sebastian Nau for their great support and guidance, inspiration, motivation and constructive criticism. I especially thank you Sebastian, for your sarcastic sense of humour and your down-to-earth working method. You showed me which buttons to press and in which order. I think the results turned out great, or as you would say, "improve your satisfaction by lowering expectations".

I want to furthermore extend my gratitude to all colleagues and friends at NanoTecCenter Weiz Forschungsgesellschaft mbH, to Kerstin Schmoltner, Johannes Kofler, Josef Harrer and Florian Kolb who shared an office with me and motivated me in dire straits – without you this work would not have been possible. I especially thank Johannes for his expertise in lithography, Josef for keeping the equipment alive and Florian for teaching me how to look at the bigger picture and focus on the fine details simultaneously.

I thank my parents who supported me for 28 years and my brothers. This work is dedicated to you as it is an accumulation of your efforts, your love and encouragement.

### Abstract

Memory is one of the most basic and most important components in the age of ubiquitous computing. The performance of memory technology has been continuously increased over the past decades by downscaling the physical dimensions of its constitutive components, namely capacitors and transistors. Downscaling has led to a doubling of the integration density roughly every 18 months, an observation that is known as Moore's law.

Approaching the fundamental lower limit of electronic circuitry has kindled research into next generation's memory technology. A promising class of emerging research device are resistive switches. They are known to be fast, non-volatile and can be integrated as two-terminal devices in high-density crossbar arrays. Using organic dielectric and semiconducting material has produced very reliable high-performance memory cells, however the poor understanding of the fundamental switching mechanism has hampered further development.

In this light a set of experimental data is presented that reveals clear evidence that the resistive switching effect in metal/organic/metal devices is based on the formation and rupture of filaments. The process of filament formation and resistive switching is illustrated by time-of-flight secondary-ion mass spectroscopy. The simple device structure suggests that this mechanism is solely accountable for unipolar resistive switching in a wide class of devices with equivalent structure, ruling out a variety of previously proposed theories.

To substantiate the switching theory the influence of the reactive species oxygen and water on the switching behaviour is studied. Alternative fabrication methods are developed to demonstrate that switching is largely independent from fabrication. By the fabrication of nanosized memory cells the potential for downscaling is explored.

### Kurzfassung

Computer sind in der heutigen Zeit beinahe allgegenwärtig. Das Speichersystem eines Computers ist ein kritisches Element, welches die Performance maßgeblich beeinflusst. Die derzeit verwendete Speichertechnologie vertraut auf kontinuierliche Miniaturisierung zur Leistungssteigerung. Das führte dazu, dass bisher etwa alle 2 Jahre eine Verdoppelung der Integrationsdichte in integrierten Schaltungen beobachtet wurde, ein Zusammenhang, der auch als das Moor'sche Gesetzt bekannt ist. Die Größenordnungen, die notwendig wären um diesen Trend über 2020 hinaus aufrecht zu erhalten liegen jedoch in einem Bereich, in dem quantenmechanische Prozesse zu dominieren beginnen.

Daher wird seit Jahren intensiv an neuen Speichertechnologien geforscht. Eine sehr vielversprechende Klasse innerhalb einer Vielzahl von in Frage kommenden Systemen sind sogenannte resistive Speicher (resistive switches). Diese haben hohe Schaltgeschwindigkeiten, sind nichtflüchtig und können als Passiv-Matrix hoher Speicherdichte integriert werden.

Die Verwendung von organischen Halbleitern und Isolatoren hat bereits hoch-performante Speicher hervorgebracht. Jedoch fehlt bisher ein umfassendes und fundiertes Modell um den eigentlichen Schaltvorgang zwischen hoch-leitfähigem und isolierendem Zustand zu beschreiben.

In dieser Arbeit wird eine Reihe von Experimenten vorgestellt, anhand derer der Schaltvorgang in Metall/Isolator/Metall Dünnschichtbauelemente eindeutig der Formierung und teilweise Auflösung von metallischen Brücken, sogenannte Filamente, zugeschrieben werden kann. Die einzelnen Zustände werden anhand von Flugzeit Sekundärionen Massenspektroskopie untersucht. Der prototypische Charakter des Referenzdesigns ermöglicht es, diesen Schaltmechanismus auf eine breite Klasse von äquivalenten organischen schaltbaren Widerständen anzuwenden.

Durch alternative Fabrikationsmethoden wird gezeigt, dass der Schaltmechanismus eine intrinsische Eigenschaft von Metall/Isolator/Metall Dünnschichtbauelementen ist und nicht maßgeblich durch die Fabrikationsmethode beeinflusst wird. In diesem Licht wird auch die Stabilität der Speicher unter Sauerstoff und Wasserdampf untersucht. Die Speicher wurden zudem in Nanometerskalen gefertigt und charakterisiert um das Miniaturisierungspotential dieser Technologie zu untersuchen.

### Table of contents

1	In	Introduction				
2	Cı	arrent Memory Architecture	5			
	2.1	Static Random Access Memory	6			
	2.2	Dynamic Random Access Memory	6			
	2.3	FLASH	7			
	2.4	Hard Disk Drive	8			
	2.5	Figures of Merit for Current Memory and Storage Technology	10			
3	St	orage Class Memory	11			
	3.1	Prototypical and Emerging Research Devices	12			
	3.2	Phase Change Memory	12			
	3.3	Magnetoresistive Memory	13			
	3.4	Ferroelectric Memory	14			
	3.5	Nano-Mechanic Memory	15			
	3.6	Molecular Memory	16			
	3.7	Resistive Memory	17			
4	Oı	ganic Resistive Switches	21			
	4.1	Materials for ORS	22			
	4.2	The Switching Mechanism – A Source of Confusion	23			
5	Tł	e Reference PMMA Device	27			
	5.1	Fabrication of Reference PMMA Device	27			
	5.2	Basic operation principle and electrical characterization	28			
	5.3	Influence of H <sub>2</sub> O and O <sub>2</sub> on the Switching Mechanism of Standard PMMA ORS	38			
	5.4	Time-of-Flight Secondary Ion Mass Spectroscopy	42			

6	(	ORS with Transfer Printed Gold Top Electrode	47			
	6.1	Fabrication of Transfer Printed ORS	47			
7	]	Laminated ORS				
	7.1	Fabrication of Au/PMMA/Au ORS via Lamination	55			
	7.2	Electrical Characterization	58			
8	(	ORS on Super-Thin Substrate Mylar1.4	61			
	8.1	Fabrication of Metal/Organic/Metal ORS on Super-Thin Substrates	61			
	8.2	Electrical Characterization	62			
9	]	Nanoscale Organic Resistive Switch	65			
	9.1	Fabrication of Nanoscale ORS	65			
	9.2	Nanoscale ORS 1	66			
	9.3	Nanoscale ORS 2	72			
	9.4	Nanoscale ORS 3	74			
	9.5	Nanoscale ORS 4	77			
1	0 9	Summary and Conclusion	81			
1	11 Index of Acronyms					
12	12 References					

### 1 Introduction

We live in an age of ubiquitous computing. Computers have interfused almost every aspect of our life and have to some extend evolved from primitive calculators to connected entities forming a global network – the internet.

The success of modern computers was aided by what is now known as Moore's law<sup>1</sup> describing the doubling of the number of transistors in an integrated circuit at approximately the same cost and size every two years. It has not only served as a keen observation of the past but furthermore acted as a driving force for industry and research to come up with new ideas to fabricate memory and logic in the sizes demanded by Moore's Law.

Owing to the complexity of today's circuits downsizing is not always a straight-forward process. As long as the work-horse of lithography is the 193 nm wavelength excimer laser there are physical limits to the smallest feature size that can be obtained. The follow-up technologies extreme ultra-violet (EUV) and electron beam (e-beam) are not ready in an industrial scale<sup>2</sup> and companies still rely on refined methods like double patterning<sup>3</sup> to reach the next generation of critical dimension. The end of Moore's Law has been predicted in regular intervals, but in a collective effort scientists and engineers have continuously kept on schedule with downsizing integrated circuits. However, a slow-down of miniaturization can be observed at the current stage<sup>4</sup>.

The international technology roadmap for semiconductors (ITRS) has outlined two strategies named "More than Moore" and "More Moore" in 2010 to sustain the success story of integrated circuit development.

*More-than-Moore* (MTM) represents a diversification approach, where, for example, micromechanical machines, sensors or actuators or microfluidic devices are implemented on a chip without, per se, increasing packing density but instead adding new functionality<sup>5</sup>. In this sense MTM is not competing with the miniaturization trend of Moore's law. Instead a heterogeneous integration of digital and non-digital functionalities might create a new industrial trend that is independent from and not hampered by the physical limits of Moore's law.

In contrast *More Moore* (MM) aims to extend the life-time of established CMOS technology by exploring new implementations, e.g. materials or 3-D stacking<sup>6</sup>. One especially intriguing aspect is the implementation of analogue memory units in digital circuits that have worked on Boolean logic, i.e. with states represented by "0" (OFF) and "1" (ON). We can envision, for

example, a new kind of memory that stores not two but more logic states (so called multi-bit cells). For ten states at the same size such a kind of memory would represent a significant increase in memory density without the limitations imposed by Moore's Law.

It has been further realized that much of the advantages that a brain possesses over binary logic stems from its analogue character and a switching behaviour that has been termed "all or nothing threshold switching" or spiking behaviour<sup>7</sup> of neurons. In the late 70s of the 20<sup>th</sup> century it was discovered that this switching behaviour can be realized by the means of a fourth basic, passive, non-linear two-terminal electrical circuit element: the memristor<sup>8,9</sup>.

The development of the actual working memristive devices turned out to be a greater challenge than expected and it took over 40 years until the connection between non-volatile resistive switching metal/insulator/metal (MIM) thin-film devices and the memristor was established<sup>10</sup>.

In recent years this particular class of memristive devices have increasingly gained attention from both, the scientific community and industry alike. The current focus of research lies on the application of resistive switching devices in memory where Moore's law might soon limit the advance in currently established memory technology and new materials, methods and devices are in dire need.

After over four decades the physics that drive resistive switching in MIM devices is still poorly understood and hampers technological progress in this area.

The aim of this work is to contribute to the understanding of the switching mechanism in metal/insulator/metal devices, where it will focus on devices with organic insulating (and semiconducting) materials.

The **second chapter** lays out the current standing of the memory landscape as well as introduce promising candidates for next generation memory. For established memory technologies the functional principles are explained to understand their specific advantages and drawbacks.

The **third chapter** introduces the concept of a unified memory and storage device. It focuses prototypical and emerging memory technologies which, in theory, are capable to replace current technology. In the **fourth chapter** the use of organic insulating materials in resistive memory is introduced as a promising material class. Its structure and working principles as well as performance related figures of merit are presented by means of a reference device in **chapter five**. The switching mechanism will be investigated in detail by means of time-of-flight secondary ion mass spectroscopy, impedance spectroscopy, electrical characterization and by studying the influence of the reactive gasses oxygen and water vapour on the switching. In **chapter six** and **seven** two alternative fabrication methods, namely metal transfer printing and lamination are presented to study the influence of the fabrication route on the memory's properties. In **chapter eight** the use of a flexible, lightweight and ultra-thin substrate is demonstrated. **Chapter nine** explores the potential for downsizing and nanometre-scale memory elements are fabricated and characterized. In the final **chapter ten** the work is summarized and a conclusion is drawn.

### 2 Current Memory Architecture

In today's computer architecture four distinctively different memory technologies are usually implemented in a system. They can be roughly divided into memory and storage as is schematically displayed in figure 2.1. Memory is volatile, i.e. it loses its memory state when external power is switched off. Memory is usually associated with random access, meaning that each cell (bit) can be addressed in random order. This class contains static random access memory (SRAM) and dynamic RAM (DRAM).

Storage is non-volatile and sustains its memory state without external power supply, in an ideal case infinitely. The most common technology in this class is FLASH.

For storage of big amounts of data hard-disk drives are usually employed as they feature high data capacity at low cost but suffer from relatively low speed.



Figure 2.1 A schematic of current memory/storage segmentation. SRAM and DRAM is usually employed where fast switching speed is necessary and limited memory capacity and volatile behaviour are acceptable, e.g. the fast cache in a computer. FLASH and HDD form the non-volatile storage segment. They offer considerably higher capacity but are slow in comparison to SRAM and DRAM.

#### 2.1 Static Random Access Memory

In static random access memory (SRAM) data storage is achieved using a bistable latch also called a flip-flop where each state of the latch represents either "1" or "0". It is temporarily stable (i.e. does not need periodical refreshing) but it still volatile as data is lost without external power supply. A typical ("stand alone") SRAM usually consists of 6 transistors. The high number of transistors limits the integration density of SRAM however it is, generally speaking, the fastest memory. A schematic showing the flip-flop and access transistors is shown in figure 2.2.



Figure 2.2 Schematic of an SRAM cell, represented by a bistable latch ("flip-flop"), two access transistors and the principal external connection by bitlines  $(B,\overline{B})$  and the word-line. The memory states are formed by the two stable states of the centre flip-flop. The complex structure is a drawback as it limits the integration density of SRAM. Taken from<sup>11</sup>

### 2.2 Dynamic Random Access Memory

In dynamic RAM data is stored in a capacitor, where charged and discharged state represent 1 and 0, respectively. Compared to SRAM, where the memory state is temporarily maintained by bistable latches, DRAM needs periodical refreshes to keep the capacitor charged due to leakage in form of sub-threshold current of the transistor or to the oxide. Since only one storage capacitor and one access transistor are necessary for a DRAM cell (figure 2.3) the density is significantly higher than SRAM.



Figure 2.3 Schematic of a DRAM cell. The data is stored in form of a charge on the capacitor ("1" charged, "0" uncharged state). Due to constant leakage of the stored charge DRAM requires periodical refresh. As can be expected from the simple structure of the cell integration density of DRAM is high. Taken from<sup>12</sup>

Periodical refresh and the required external circuitry limit the speed of DRAM which is considerably slower than SRAM.

### 2.3 FLASH

FLASH is implemented in storage devices. A FLASH cell is a transistor with an additional, isolated gate, called floating gate (figure 2.4). In FLASH memory the bit information is stored in form of charges on the floating gate that change the threshold voltage of the FET channel. This shift is interpreted as "1" or "0". Electrons are placed in the floating gate via tunnelling from the source-drain channel ("hot injection") or the control gate ("cold injection") and remain there for some time (retention time is expected to be at least years).



Figure 2.4 Schematic cross-section of a FLASH memory cell. The cell basically forms a CMOS transistor with an additional, isolated, floating gate. Charge stored in this floating gate partially shield the electric field from the control gate, resulting in a shift in the threshold voltage for the transistor. This shift represents the binary states "0" and "1". Adapted from<sup>13</sup>

One significant disadvantage of FLASH is the limited amount of write/read cycles due to gate oxide stress induced by the high voltages necessary for write operation leading to program disturb or oxide defects<sup>14</sup>.

### 2.4 Hard Disk Drive

Nowadays hard disk drives (HDD) are the most common storage system. A HDD uses rotating magnetic disks as storage media and data is written and read sequentially by a magnetic head. HDD offer a high density per area by utilizing quantum mechanical tunnelling, namely the giant magnetoresistance (GMR) and tunnel magnetoresistance (TMR) effect<sup>15</sup>. The tunnel current through a thin non-magnetic layer is a function of the relative orientation of the ferromagnetic layers. This can be understood by means of a so-called spin-valve depicted in figure 2.5. A ferromagnetic layer (FM) with pinned polarization and a FM with variable direction of polarization are separated by a non-magnetic isolator (TMR) or non-ferromagnetic metal

(GMR). The tunnelling current now depends on the relative orientation of the two layers. In case of parallel orientation of the two FM layers the tunnel current is high, in case of antiparallel orientation the current is significantly reduced. Utilizing this effect has drastically increased the storage area density that approaches  $2*10^3$  Gigabits per square inch<sup>16</sup>.



Figure 2.5 Schematic explanation of the GMR effect on the basis of spin-dependent scattering of electrons depending on the relative magnetization of two ferromagnetic layer (FM). The tunnel current through the non-magnetic layer (NM) is interpreted as states "0" and "1". Taken from<sup>17</sup>

As a mature technology the HDD features high data density, long retention and other features, e.g. the unpatterned bits that offer a tremendous cost advantage. As such the bits are sublithographic<sup>18</sup>.

HDD also has significant drawbacks as it features mechanical components to rotate the disk and position the head for read and write operation. All mechanical components are prone to failure, the mean time before failure of a modern HDD is around 1.2 million hours<sup>19</sup>.

### 2.5 Figures of Merit for Current Memory and Storage Technology

The above presented memory and storage devices present mature technologies and a billion dollar market<sup>20</sup>. Since all presented memory technologies rely on downsizing to increase its performance it is expected that they will face serious issues with the end of Moore's law approaching<sup>21</sup>. Given a fabrication process the smallest feature size obtainable is denoted F. The area footprint of a device is then expressed in multiples of  $F^2$ , where smaller values of  $F^2$  mean a higher area density.

Any technology that hopes to replace current memory technology, so-called next generation memory (NGM), will be evaluated under that aspect. In order to lay out the performance parameters expected for next generation memory the current generation's figure of merit are summarized in the following table 1. The best-in-class features are summarized in the last column as target for NGM.

Table 1 Figures of merit for currently commercialized memory technology. Best-in-class values are in italics and summarized in the last column as expected performance features of next generation memory. Adapted from  $^{22}$ 

	SRAM	DRAM	FLASH	HDD	NGM
Footprint (F <sup>2</sup> )	140	6-12	1-4	2/3	1-41
Energy per bit written (pJ)	5x10 <sup>-4</sup>	5x10 <sup>-3</sup>	2x10 <sup>-5</sup>	1-10x10 <sup>9</sup>	2x10 <sup>-5</sup>
Read time (ns)	10-1	10 <sup>1</sup>	10 <sup>5</sup>	5-8x10 <sup>6</sup>	10-1
Write time (ns)	10-1	10 <sup>1</sup>	10 <sup>5</sup>	5-8x10 <sup>6</sup>	10-1
Retention	As long as voltage applied	ms	Years	Years	Years
Endurance cycles	>10 <sup>16</sup>	>10 <sup>16</sup>	104	104	>10 <sup>16</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> numbers smaller than 4 represent multi-bit ability, i.e. a single cell can represent more than two memory states.

### 3 Storage Class Memory



Figure 3.1 Transition from current memory and storage segmented architecture to a unified storage class memory utilizing next generation memory

Traditionally there has been a technological gap between memory and storage in digital systems (refer to figure 3.1). Whereas first aim for high write/read/erase speed the second one emphasizes density. For NGM expected performance parameters are outlined in the last column of table 1.

Combining the best of these features in one class of device is the driving force behind storage class memory (SCM). SCM need to be, for obvious reasons, non-volatile. Random access, i.e. addressing, reading and writing on bite level ("per cell") is a requirement. Cross-bar arrays are generally believed to be the most promising architecture to achieve high density (4F<sup>2</sup>) and random access<sup>23</sup>. Ideally SCM is as fast as SRAM under write/read/erase operation and offer a density as high as magnetic storage platter used in hard-disk drives at similar price ranges (HDD, 826 gigabits per square inch<sup>24</sup>, <\$0.05 per gigabyte<sup>25</sup>). Current implementations of solid-state disk drives based on FLASH (SSD, 550 Gb per square inch<sup>26</sup>, >\$0.3 per gigabyte (as of 2014)) are an attempt to reach this goal, but they face serious issues of limited density, limited number of write cycles and other limitations<sup>27</sup>. It has been hinted that a number of prototypical and emerging research devices (ERD) might be suitable for SCM<sup>28</sup>.

### 3.1 Prototypical and Emerging Research Devices

Prototypical devices refers to memory systems that have been, in principle, demonstrated but are not yet fully commercialized. Emerging research devices are at an even earlier stage. They have been successfully demonstrated on a lab scale but are not yet commercialized.



Figure 3.2 Classification of present, current and emerging memory technologies. This tree is an attempt to organize memory technology into already commercialized (mature), commercialized at an early stage (prototypical) and not yet commercialized (emerging) classes. Adapted from<sup>29</sup>

A closer look at figure 3.2 reveals a manifold of memory technologies currently under development. As the memory technology landscape is rapidly shifting some devices might already be implemented in consumer technology at a small scale.

### 3.2 Phase Change Memory

In a phase change memory (PCM), also referred to as ovonic unified memory, the resistance contrast between a high-resistance amorphous and a low-resistance crystalline phase of a material, e.g. chalcogenide glasses, is used to represent the memory states "1" and "0". This is, basically, the same working principle and materials used in compact disks (CD), where the different optical properties of the amorphous (low reflectivity) and crystalline (high reflectivity) phases are used. The writing is achieved by suitable current pulses and Joule heating of a small volume of the material. The set operation (high-resistance to low-resistance) is facilitated by

heating the chalcogenide film above its crystallization temperature and then slowly cooled down to enhance crystallization. For reset operation the film is heated above melting temperature and then quenched to remain in an amorphous state. The high currents necessary for reset are a limiting factor for the integration of PCM in larger scales. PCM has already been commercialized to some extent as RAM for mobile devices<sup>30,31</sup>, but recently the market situation has shown a trend towards stacked 3D FLASH over PCM<sup>32</sup>.



Figure 3.3 left-hand side: schematic layout of a PCM cell. Only a small volume exhibits phase change during memory operation. The series resistance of the cell can be changed by switching between amorphous (high resistance) and crystalline (low resistance) phase of the chalcogenide glass. Right-hand side: I-V characteristics of a PCM. The hysteresis shows two distinct memory states. Adapted from<sup>33,34,35</sup>

### 3.3 Magnetoresistive Memory

In a magnetoresistive memory the difference in resistance forming the memory states "1" and "0" arises from the tunnelling magnetoresistance effect (TMR). The memory cell is formed by a thin dielectric layer sandwiched between a ferromagnetic layer with permanent (pinned) direction of magnetisation and a ferromagnetic layer whose polarization direction can be switched from parallel to antiparallel with respect to the pinned layer during read and write operation. When the electron tunnels its spin is conserved. As such the tunnelling current is a function of density of states (DOS) and the DOS differ for parallel and antiparallel orientation of the magnetic layers, schematically displayed in figure 3.4.



Figure 3.4 Working principle of magnetoresistive RAM on the basis of density of state (DOS)-dependent tunneling current between two ferromagnetic layers (SL, PL) separated by an antiferromagnetic (AF) spacer (left side). In ferromagnetic materials (Ni, Fe, Co) majority band (spin-down) has a higher DOS at the Fermi-surface (center). Right-hand side: in case of parallel magnetized layers the tunnelling current is high resulting in a low resistance ("1"). If during write operation the magnetization is changed to antiparallel the cell will exhibit a high resistance ("0"). Adapted from<sup>36,37</sup>

### 3.4 Ferroelectric Memory

In ferroelectric memory the memory states are stored in form of remnant polarization of a ferroelectric material (e.g. lead zirconate titanate) as schematically explained in figure 3.5. In practical use FeRAMs have a cell structure similar to DRAM, e.g. one transistor one capacitor (transistor type cell, not shown).

For writing operation a positive or negative voltage is applied across the cell capacitor resulting in an according polarization. Data retention of this type of device is known to be limited due to the limited retention of remnant polarization and ferroelectric RAM (FeRAM) needs to be periodically refreshed, similar to DRAM<sup>38</sup>. To read the stored data of a cell it is switched to the "0" state. If the previous state had been "1" a flow of charges, i.e. a current pulse, is detected. If the previous state had been "0" no charges will flow. A read changes the state of the memory thus requiring a refresh of the cell.

Compared to FLASH they feature a significantly lower power consumption and voltage levels as well as higher read/write speeds<sup>39</sup>.



Figure 3.5 Left side: schematic of a ferroelectric memory cell. The memory states are represented by different remnant polarizations, as represented schematically on the right-hand side. Adapted from<sup>40</sup>

Ferroelectric memory is still a niche market but applied in a variety of products, e.g. Texas Instruments incorporates FeRAM in microcontrollers for low-power applications<sup>41</sup>.

### 3.5 Nano-Mechanic Memory

The nano-mechanic memory is a storage concept where the data is stored in forms of nanosized pits in a polymer layer. It is, in some sense, similar to punch-cards that served as mechanical storage units in the early years of the computing age<sup>42</sup>. Write and readout of the data is facilitated by micro-electromechanical systems (MEMS), similar to the probe of an atomic force microscope. For readout the probe tip is heated and moved into the proximity of the pixel. If the cantilever enters a pit the contact area and the heat flow from the probe is increased compared to the flat surface. This difference in temperature transfers to a difference of electrical resistance and assigned the memory states "0", "1".

For writing the tip is heated above the glass transition temperature of the storage media and the tip causes a dent in the softened polymer upon touching. To erase the bit the hot tip is slowly pulled away, surface tension will follow the tip removing the pit. Refer to figure 3.6 for operation modes.

The whole system is highly sophisticated from a micro-mechanical standpoint of view and the commercialization (IBM: millipede storage<sup>43</sup>) is slow although it offers promising data density.



Figure 3.6 Upper half: writing operation of nano-mechanical storage system. The heated cantilever writes a bit by creating a dent in the PMMA layer. Bottom half: read operation based on thermal sensing. Taken from<sup>44</sup>

### 3.6 Molecular Memory

In molecular memory the data is stored in some inherent characteristic of a molecule. Owing to the ambiguous nature of this concept it is hard to draw a border to other memory systems, as molecular characteristics play a role in almost every memory concept. However some storage mechanism bear strong resemblance to a specific molecular quality and are thus themed molecular memory or molecular switch.

Typically the layout of such a device is metal/molecule/metal whereas the molecule is applied in the form of a self-assembled monolayer (SAM). If the molecule exhibits some form of hysteretic or bistable behaviour, e.g. low- and high-conductance states depending on conformation, this unit forms a memory<sup>45</sup>.

This type of memory is in a very early stage of development.

#### 3.7 Resistive Memory

Resistive memory elements store data in form of different resistance states, i.e. a high-resistivity is assigned "0" and a low resistivity "1". They usually comprise a simple architecture metal/insulator or semiconductor/metal and can be implemented in two-terminal crossbar-architecture which is favourable for high area density. A criterion to further divide the large field of resistive memory is the switching mechanism. It has been shown that in some devices switching will be bipolar<sup>46</sup>, i.e. set and reset operation have different polarity of the bias. In this class one finds memory that exhibits a valence change mechanism (VCM) and the electrochemical metallization mechanism (ECM)<sup>47,48</sup>.

If set and reset operation fall in the same polarity region the switching is said to be unipolar<sup>49</sup>. This is commonly related to thermochemical effects (TC memory). For a graphical representation see figure 3.7.



Figure 3.7 Definition of bipolar and unipolar switching behaviour. Left-hand side: bipolar switching characteristics; the SET and RESET voltages have different sign, here the cell can only be set to ON in the positive bias direction and set OFF in the negative. Right-hand side: unipolar switching behaviour under I-V sweep. SET and RESET voltage have the same sign (but might have different magnitude).

#### 3.7.1 Valence Change Memory

In materials where oxygen vacancies are much more mobile than ions (usually transition metal oxides, e.g. TiO<sub>2</sub> or SrTiO<sub>3</sub>) the valence of the metal can be changed by the local depletion or enrichment of oxygen vacancies. This change in valence is related to a change in electronic conductivity that can be used to represent the memory states "0" and "1". Voltage pulses of opposite polarity can switch between high and low resistance state by changing the doping profile. During the switching process oxygen vacancies drift, forced by the electric field, towards or away from the anode. The working principle is schematically depicted in figure 3.8.



Figure 3.8 Left-hand side: schematic representation of a VCM (this is the famous "HP-memristor"). The resistance switching is explain in terms of oxygen-vacancy doping of  $TiO_2$  to  $TiO_{2-x}$ . The bias shifts the doping-depth d and leads to a non-linearity, shown in the I-V characteristics on the right hand side. The switching is bipolar, which can be easily understood by reversing the direction of dopant-drift under a reversed polarity of the external field. Adapted from<sup>10</sup>

Recent work by S.R. Williams et al.<sup>10,50,51</sup> on Pt/TiO<sub>2</sub>/TiO<sub>2-x</sub>/Pt VCM has gained a lot of attention. The significance and originality of this work is sometimes put into question<sup>52,53,54</sup> but from a neutral point of view it can be argued that the connection between non-volatile memory (as the VCM) and the theory of a non-linear circuit element (the memristor<sup>8</sup>, or more general memristive devices<sup>9</sup>) is significant as it has pushed open a door when it was realized that not only a single device but in fact all devices that have a pinched I-V characteristic<sup>55</sup> (that is, the (I,V) curve has a hysteresis and includes the (0,0) point in the I-V plane) are not only non-volatile memories but might also be looking forward to application in non-conventional computing as neuristors or artificial nerve-cells<sup>56,57</sup>. Though this is still highly speculative it has implications that go far beyond the scope of this thesis and should be kept in mind when evaluating the significance of any work in this area.

#### 3.7.2 Electrochemical Metallization Cell Memory

In an electrochemical cell (ECM) an ion-conductor is sandwiched between two electrodes. One electrode is chemically active (AE, e.g. Ag, Cu) whilst the other is electrochemically inert with respect to the components of the cell (e.g. Pt, Ir). If a bias of sufficient strength is applied metal is dissolved on the anode and drifts across the intermediate layer region due to the high electric field. At the inert cathode the ion is neutralized and forms a conductive metal bridge. Thus the

name conductive bridge (CB) is also used in literature. For resetting the memory requires a voltage of suitable amplitude and different polarity, thus the bipolar nature of the device. The work principle is shown in figure 3.9. An extensive review on this topic is given in<sup>58,59</sup>.



Figure 3.9 Schematic explanation of the set and reset process of an ECM. The AE in this device is silver whereas the inert electrode consists of platinum. The points for set (A-D) and reset (E) operation are marked. Taken from  $^{58}$ 

#### 3.7.3 Thermochemical Memory

Metal/insulator/metal resistive memories that exhibit unipolar switching are considered to belong to the group of thermochemical memory. In this kind of memory the OFF state is usually represented by the high resistance state and by an appropriate voltage pulse the resistance can be switched by many orders of magnitudes (figure 4.3). The switching mechanism suggests that during the ON set operation a metallic highly conductive path ("filament") is formed in the insulating material, similar to the conductive bridge in ECM. Temperature investigations suggest that the switching mechanism is due to thermochemical breakdown of the oxide layer. The heat is generated by Joule heating, i.e. heat is generated by dissipation of electrical power. Historically NiO thin films were the first to be investigated in 1964<sup>60</sup>, but a variety of other

oxides and materials were reported ever since, e.g. chalcogenide glasses<sup>61</sup>, semiconductors<sup>62</sup>, nitrides<sup>63</sup>, to name a few. A more extensive list can be found in<sup>64</sup>. Interestingly a wide variety of combination exhibits the same switching behaviour. This already suggests a universal switching mechanism irrespective of the used material.

### 4 Organic Resistive Switches

As early as 1970 switching in organic materials has been reported<sup>65</sup> and in 1974 the relevance of polymer materials for memory application became obvious<sup>66</sup>. For some years the area of research was a niche topic but it attracted increasing attention around the year 2000<sup>67</sup>.

In recent years organic electronics has successfully established its place in the electronics industry, where they sometimes outperform their inorganic counterpart, e.g. organic light emitting devices, or are competitive due to lower prices or and/new form-factors, as in flexible ultra-light organic solar cells<sup>68</sup>.

In the course of this work it will be demonstrated that non-volatile memories that embody an organic switching medium ("active layer") exhibit properties that make them very competitive with their inorganic counterpart. From here on such devices will be referred to as *organic resistive switches* (ORS). ORS were reported to exhibit bipolar<sup>69,70</sup> and unipolar resistive switching. The focus here lies on ORS that exhibit unipolar switching. The current-voltage or I-V characteristic is shown in figure 4.3. The basic layout of an ORS and its integration in a crossbar array with minimum footprint  $4F^2$  is explained in figure 4.1



Figure 4.1 Left: schematic explanation of the integration density of  $4F^2$  where F is the feature size of the memory element, i.e. the electrode and spacing width. On the right-hand side the stack of an ORS is given. This simple structure shown on top is, however, not yet suitable for array integration due to the sneak-path problem<sup>71</sup> (a high-resistive cell (OFF cell) surrounded by low-resistive cells (ON cells) will not be read-out correctly because of the current bypassing the OFF cell via the ON cells). For that reason a select device is necessary, e.g. a transistor or diode. A diode is a two-terminal device like the ORS itself and thus does not increase the footprint of the memory cell.

#### 4.1 Materials for ORS

The choice of a set of materials is an ambiguous one as it was already shown that ORS can be built from an almost infinite set of combinations of conducting (metal) electrodes and insulating or semiconducting layer<sup>72,73</sup> without a significant change in functionality.



Figure 4.2 left: schematic I-V characteristic of an ORS that exhibits total symmetry when the same material is used for top- and bottom electrode (dashed line in the left half-plane) and deviation from that symmetry that occurs when one electrode is changed. Left: schematic I-V characteristic of an ORS employing an insulator (solid line) or an organic semiconductor (dashed line). The ON state is usually not effected as expected from filamentary switching mechanism, but the OFF state in an organic semiconductor exhibits higher intrinsic conductivity. Adapted from<sup>72</sup>

#### 4.1.1 Electrode Materials

Usually metal or conducting oxide electrodes are used to enclose the organic layer. The switching characteristics are surprisingly independent of the choice of materials as will become more clearly later. Typical choices of materials are indium tin oxide (ITO), aluminium, silver, gold. The symmetry of the I-V characteristic in the left and right half-plane is to some extend dependent on the materials used for top- and bottom electrode. If the same material is used a totally symmetric I-V characteristic is usually observed for positive and negative bias (figure 4.2).

#### 4.1.2 Insulating and Semiconducting Materials

The choice of insulating or semiconducting material for the active layer is rather arbitrary for the device function. A semiconducting material will usually exhibit a higher OFF current as it has a higher intrinsic conductivity (figure 4.2). Since the ON state is not influenced significantly this will decrease the ON/OFF ratio.

Resistive switching has been reported in many organic semiconducting and insulating materials but the most prominent are: Alq<sub>3</sub><sup>74</sup>, NPB<sup>75</sup>, P3HT<sup>76</sup>, PEDOT:PSS<sup>77</sup>, PI<sup>78</sup>, PMMA<sup>79</sup>, PS<sup>80</sup>, PVA<sup>81</sup>, PVK<sup>82</sup>, PVP<sup>83</sup>.

For further work PMMA was chosen as it is a non-hazardous air-stable solution-process able and cheap dielectric.

### 4.2 The Switching Mechanism – A Source of Confusion

Carrying over to the research done in the past years of our time, a multitude of switching mechanisms was proposed. The initial report (1967) by Simmons and Verderber (SVmechanism)<sup>84</sup> held metal particles in the insulating layer of an Al/SiO<sub>x</sub>/Au device responsible for resistive switching. Charges trapped on this particles would build-up a space-charge field. Upon exceeding a certain voltage the trap-energy would shift with respect to the Fermi level, thus switching the device in the ON state. Upon removal of the excess charges the device would revert to its OFF state. In 1970 Dearnaley and Stoneham reported switching in metal/insulator/metal devices to be the consequence of the formation and rupture of filaments. The forming mechanism was described to involve dielectric relaxation and ion migration<sup>85</sup>. In the same year Pender and Fleming reported switching in organic devices. Switching in Al/Ps/Al was attributed to the formation and rupture of carbon-rich filaments<sup>86</sup>. In 1974 Henisch et al. attributed switching in SnO<sub>2</sub>/PMMA/Mo to field controlled chain ordering<sup>66</sup>. In the following decades a variety of switching mechanisms were postulated for organic resistive switches. Switching in terms of Coulomb blockade<sup>87</sup>, or charge-transfer processes<sup>88</sup>, as well as conformational change in certain molecules<sup>89</sup>. Furthermore it was postulated that a certain amount (a thin layer of about 4 nm) of metal in the middle of the organic layer was critical to obtain switching<sup>67</sup>.

With above wide spectrum of proposed switching mechanism in mind it is evident that a thorough investigation of the physics behind the switching mechanism is necessary in order to pave the way for future progress in the field of memory application of ORS. In 2014 Nau et al.<sup>72</sup> were able to proof by means of photovoltaic effect and impedance spectroscopy to break down the zoo of switching mechanism and establish filament formation and rupture as the

physical processes dominating switching from OFF to ON and vice versa, respectively. The switching mechanism is graphically presented in figure 5.3.



Figure 4.3 I-V characteristics and filamentary model for resistive switching in metal/insulator/metal resistive switches with thermochemical switching mechanism. The device is initially in its high-resistance (OFF) state (A) The top (TE) and bottom electrode (BE) are separated by a (thin) layer of insulating material (gap). The device exhibits space-charged limited current. Upon application of a suitable bias (the TE is positively biased relative to the TE) the insulating layer exhibits resistive switching by a heat assisted and field driven accumulation of metal atoms across the gap (B). The device is in its ON (highly conductive) state, where a metal bridge, in this context called filament, connects top- and bottom-electrode (D). The device now exhibits ohmic conduction. Upon increasing bias and current heat locally dissipates the electrode, reverting the device to its OFF state (C). Adapted from<sup>90</sup>

The physics behind that filamentary process, however, is still widely unknown. The motivation to get a clear understanding of the switching process are twofold. From a fundamental point of view the fact that such a simple device has evaded a rigid framework and description of the underlying working principles for so long is motivation in itself. From a more practical standpoint the missing understanding of the switching mechanism limits engineering efforts to tailor ORS to specific needs, i.e. voltage level adjustments and switching time, to name just two.
As such the aim is to build on the fundamental working principle of filament formation as a switching process and present experimental evidence that, in conjunction with a model description, will allow a better understanding of the phaenomena of resistive switching.

# 5 The Reference PMMA Device

The following section will discuss basic features of an ORS. The device has the structure depicted in figure 5.1 and will be called reference PMMA device throughout this work.



Figure 5.1 Layout of the ORS reference device. Each substrate carries 8 ORS in a single-cell layout with a common-BE. The BE is ITO on a glass substrate, the insulating layer is PMMA spin-cast from solution. The top-layer is evaporated under vacuum and patterned using a shadow mask.

# 5.1 Fabrication of Reference PMMA Device



Figure 5.2 Reference PMMA device with the structure ITO/PMMA/Ag. The left hand side shows a photograph, the left hand side is recorded using a microscope under small magnification. The inset shows the electrode area is (3x3) mm<sup>2</sup>

An ITO coated glass is pre-patterned by scotch tape. The part of the ITO that is not covered by tape is etched away by hydrochloric acid. The substrate is then cleaned by rinsing in acetone and 2-propanol and 15 min sonication in 2-propanol. A 30 g/l PMMA (Sigma-Aldrich Mw~120,000) in toluene solution is spin cast using 1500 rpm for 40 seconds and a ramp of 4 under clean room atmosphere in a laminar flow box. The substrate is subsequently annealed at 170°C for 10 min to remove residual solvent. The resulting film is clear of any stains or impurities under the light microscope. Film thickness was measured to be 160 nm using atomic force microscopy (AFM). The substrate is transferred to the vacuum deposition device (VDD) and the chamber is evacuated to a pressure less or equal 10<sup>-6</sup> mbar. The silver (Ag) or gold (Au) top electrode is evaporated from a tungsten boat at a constant rate of 1 nm s<sup>-1</sup> to a final thickness of 70 nm. After fabrication the device is transferred to a glove box with argon atmosphere (H<sub>2</sub>O <1 ppm, O<sub>2</sub> <1 ppm) for characterization. Figure 5.2 shows the final stage of the device. The yield of working devices was close to 100% with this configuration.

# 5.2 Basic operation principle and electrical characterization

In any application scenario the ORS is a device that is characterized from the outside by its resistance which in turn is represented by current and voltage.

#### 5.2.1 Conditioning

A pristine device requires a conditioning procedure or forming step before it can operate as a memory. This procedure refers to a single or a series of bias sweeps that will enable resistive switching in the device. Conditioning differs from device to device but has shown to be very simple in the here presented reference device. Usually switching was obtained after a single voltage sweep 0V - 15V - 0V (figure 5.3).



Figure 5.3 Conditioning of reference PMMA memory device. A double sweep between 0 and 15 V enables switching in this type of device. (1) and (2) refer to the sweep direction in sequence.

The commonly accepted reason for conditioning is the need to apply a field high enough to create an initial pre-filament in the organic layer<sup>91</sup>.

#### 5.2.2 I-V Sweep Characterization

All devices are characterized using an Agilent B1500A parameter analyser on a probe station in a glove box atmosphere (H<sub>2</sub>O, O<sub>2</sub> <1 ppm) and tungsten needle contacts or a specifically made probe chamber.

The device is contacted via tungsten tips on a grounded low noise stage (Karl Süss PM5). The Agilent B1500A parameter analyser is connected via triaxial cables. The device is characterized using the standard I-V sweep mode. In all characterizations unless noted otherwise the positive bias is applied on the top electrode and the bottom electrode is grounded.

The I-V characteristic obtained from a reference PMMA device under positive bias sweep (0->5 -> 0 V) is depicted in figure 5.4. The sweep sequence is indicated by numbered arrows. Initially the device is in its OFF state and the conduction is low. At roughly 3 V switching occurs as indicated by the sudden surge in current. Upon increasing the bias further the NDR region is reached where a gradually increased bias leads to a decrease in current (3.5 - 4.5 V). At the end of the NDR the device can be reset to the OFF state (5 V). If the bias is decreased from 3 V down to 0 V the device is in its ON state as indicated by the much higher current level. If read out at 1 V the device has an ON/OFF ratio of more than 4 orders of magnitude. The grey shaded areas indicate proper voltage levels for pulsed operation mode: read -1 V, set -3 V, reset -5 V.



Figure 5.4 I-V characteristics of a conditioned reference PMMA device under positive bias sweep. (1)-(4) and the arrows refer to the sequence of sweeps and direction. Switching occurs at 3 V, the NDR lies between 3.5 and 4.5 V and the memory can be reset at 5 V. The bistable behaviour can clearly be seen, the ON and OFF state are separated by a factor of  $10^4$  at 1 V. The grey bars indicate voltage levels for pulsed memory operations.

#### 5.2.3 Conduction Mechanism in I-V Sweep Mode

A common method to evaluate the conduction is a double-logarithmic plot. This way a wide spectrum of conduction mechanisms has been observed and fitted<sup>92</sup>. In a metal current is known to follow Ohm's law (eq. 1):

$$J_{drift} = \mu enE = \mu en \frac{V}{d} \propto V^1$$
 Eq. 1

Here one assumes that free mobile electrons (valence electrons) in a high uniform density (n) and constant mobility ( $\mu$ ) are drifting under the influence of an electric Field (E) that is directly proportional to the applied bias voltage (V). The situation in semiconductors and insulators is however different as free charge carriers have a much smaller or vanishing density. In such a material charges can accumulate and limit the charge-transfer. This is known as space-charged

limited current (SCLC), commonly known as Child's  $law^{93}$ . For ohmic injection, unipolar conduction and in absence of traps it can be written (eq. 2)<sup>93</sup>.

$$J = \frac{Q}{t} \approx \frac{9}{8} \varepsilon_r \varepsilon_0 \mu \frac{V^2}{L^3} \propto V^2$$
 Eq. 2

This can be extended to include shallow traps. The mobility  $\mu$  is replaced by an effective mobility  $\mu_{eff} = \mu \Theta$  where the trap depth  $E_{td}$  and the density of traps states  $N_t$  is included in the factor  $\Theta$  accordingly to (eq. 3)

$$\Theta \approx \frac{N_c}{N_t} \exp\left(-\frac{E_{td}}{kT}\right)$$
 Eq. 3

This can be interpreted to be the result of only a fraction of the charges injected are free, therefore the mobility is reduced by a factor  $\Theta$ . In this case the current will still be proportional to  $V^2$  since  $\Theta$  is independent of V. In case of SCLC the lower bias regime still shows ohmic conduction if the thermally generated free carriers  $n_0$  inside the material dominate. The onset of SCLC then takes place at  $V = \frac{8}{9} \frac{q n_0 d^2}{\varepsilon} {}^{94}$ .

A deviation from the above presented power law occurs when traps limit the conduction. This is known as Helfrich-Mark model<sup>95</sup> and the current-voltage relation has the form (for traps distributed exponentially in energy space) (eq. 4)

$$J = q^{1-l} \mu N_{\nu} \left(\frac{l}{l+1} \frac{\varepsilon \varepsilon_r}{H_b}\right)^l \left(\frac{2l+1}{l+1}\right)^{l+1} \frac{V^{l+1}}{d^{2l+1}} \propto V^{l+1}$$
Eq. 4

Here the trap distribution is represented by a characteristic temperature  $T_c$  and occurs as fitting parameter in above formula  $l = \frac{T_c}{T}$ . The total trap-density is  $H_b$ . By taking a double-logarithmic plot the transport mechanisms can be analysed as depicted schematically in figure 5.5.



Figure 5.5 Different regions for SCLC and the corresponding exponents (slopes) of the I-V characteristics for a single charge carrier in an insulating or semiconducting organic film with ohmic contact. Adapted from<sup>96</sup>

Using these equations good agreement between obtained data and the model is found as depicted in figure 5.6. First, for the OFF state, a slope very closed to 1 is observed in accordance with the ohmic conduction by thermally generated carriers. A transition to SCLC in presence of shallow traps is observed. For the ON state a slope of 1.5 is fitted, which does not fit perfectly for ohmic conduction but a small deviation is expected as the filament cannot be thought of as a solid wire.



Figure 5.6 double-logarithmic plot of the I-V characteristics of an ITO/PMMA/Au device under positive bias. The fitted lines indicated the slope. The OFF state can be fitted with two slopes,  $(0.96\pm0.007)$  and  $(2.19\pm0.05)$ , respectively, in good accordance to SCLC with thermally generated carriers and in absence of traps, respectively. The ON state slope is  $(1.46\pm0.02)$ , close to ohmic.

#### 5.2.4 Memory Stability Measurement

A desired property of any memory is a stable ON and OFF state, i.e. the states do not exhibit a drift over time. To test the stability of the reference PMMA device the memory device was set into its ON state and then measured for at least 200 seconds under a constant bias of 1 V in 200 ms time-steps amounting to approximately 10000 measurements. The resulting figure 5.7 clearly shows that at a read-out bias of 1 V the memory state is stable for at least 200 seconds. The drift of the ON state resistance is minimal and standard deviation lies within approximately 8% (( $48000 \pm 4000$ ) $\Omega$ ).



Figure 5.7 Stability of the memory state "ON" over 200 seconds under constant read-out bias of 1 V. A measurement at 1 V was taken every 200 ms amounting to 1000 data points. Only 5% of points shown here to increase visibility.

## 5.2.5 Memory Cycle Test

For this test voltage pulses of 3 V (write) and 6 V (erase) were applied for 50 ms each. In between the resistance was read-out at 1 V with the same pulse length. The resulting figure 5.8 clearly shows that the switching is quite reliable. If a tolerance-range (grey boxes) of height  $10^2$ is drawn for OFF and ON state approximately 50 out of 500 states fall out of both ranges. Interestingly the switching appears to be more reliable towards the end of the measurement. This could indicate that the device has not been perfectly conditioned initially. Even though this is not a perfect behaviour it shows that switching in the reference PMMA device is reliable.



Figure 5.8 Switching pattern of reference PMMA ORS. 3 V and 6 V were applied to write and delete the memory. In between the memory state is read out at 1 V. All pulses were applied for 1 ms. The grey boxes indicate ranges of height  $10^2$ . Approximately 50 out of 500 states fall in the centre box, i.e. indicating that switching failed and a clear discrimination of the ON and OFF states is no longer possible.

## 5.2.6 Impedance Characterization

Another powerful tool is LCR spectroscopy or impedance spectroscopy where the devices' impedance and phase angle response for an AC signal ("level") is recorded. Using an equivalent circuit diagram (ECD) as suggested in<sup>72</sup>, the device can then be modelled using two basic components capacitance (C) and ohmic resistance (R)<sup>97</sup>. With respect to a physically correct model it can be clearly shown that a capacitive behaviour is measured in an OFF device. This changes to ohmic when a device ON state is measured. The amplitude of the level needs to be low enough to ensure the device is not switched during measurements.

By means of an equivalent circuit (EC) analyser the phase and impedance spectrum can be fitted to obtain the numerical values of the electrical devices in the circuit. The software used is the freeware *EIS analyser*<sup>98</sup>.

For an ORS the simplest ECD is presented in figure 5.9. This EC and typical values for  $R_{SH}$ ,  $R_S$  and C are used to simulate the phase behaviour, as is shown on the right hand side of the figure. The analytical expression for this EC is given in<sup>72</sup> and shown in (eq. 5) for the phase angle and in (eq. 6) for the impedance.

$$\tan(\varphi) = \frac{\frac{2\pi \cdot f \cdot C \cdot R_{SH}^2}{1 + 4\pi^2 \cdot f^2 \cdot C^2 \cdot R_{SH}^2}}{R_s + \frac{R_{SH}}{1 + 4\pi^2 \cdot f^2 \cdot C^2 \cdot R_{SH}^2}}$$
Eq. 5

$$Z = R_{s} + \frac{R_{SH}}{1 + 4\pi^{2} \cdot f^{2} \cdot C^{2} \cdot R_{SH}^{2}} + i \cdot \frac{2\pi \cdot f \cdot C \cdot R_{SH}^{2}}{1 + 4\pi^{2} \cdot f^{2} \cdot C^{2} \cdot R_{SH}^{2}}$$
Eq. 6  
$$|Z| = \sqrt{Re\{Z\}^{2} + Im\{Z\}^{2}}$$



Figure 5.9 left: schematic cross-section of an ORS in ON and OFF states, respectively and the corresponding ECD. RS is the series resistance, RSH the shunt-resistance and C the capacitance of the circuit. In case of an ON device RSH will be small and therefore dominate the impedance characteristics at low frequencies. At high frequencies the impedance contribution from the capacitance will be small and dominate the parallel circuit. By previous considerations the switching should therefore be observable by a change of impedance and phase angle. On the right-hand side a simulation of the phase behaviour for ON and OFF state is given, showing previously described phase behaviour, the values used for the simulation are  $R_S=60 \Omega$ ,  $R_{SH}=10^3 \Omega$ , C=1 nF (ON) and  $R_S=60 \Omega$ ,  $R_{SH}=10^6 \Omega$ , C=1 nF (OFF), respectively . Adapted from<sup>72</sup>

The LCR spectrum of the reference PMMA device was recorded in a range of 20 Hz to 2 MHz and a level of 500 mV (rms) (figure 5.10). In the phase picture we can clearly see a transition from ohmic behaviour (phase angle close to  $0^{\circ}$ ) to capacitive behaviour (phase angle -90°) when the device is switched from the ON to the OFF state. At high frequencies both lines coincide

indicating an almost identical series resistance which dominates the EC at high frequencies. The numerical values for ON and OFF state are summarized in table 2.

Table 2 Results for impedance spectroscopy of ON and OFF state of reference PMMA device. The uncertainty shown is solely of the fit. The fitting routine used was Levenberg–Marquardt. As expected the RS changes only insignificantly and the capacitance for ON and OFF state is almost identical. The main contribution to ON/OFF switching is the shunt resistance, a strong indicator for filamentary switching.

	$R_{ m SH}\left(\Omega ight)$	$R_{S}\left(\Omega\right)$	C (nF)
ON	(1.007±0.0007)*10 <sup>5</sup>	(40±9)	(1.280±0.006)
OFF	(5.92±0.06)*10 <sup>8</sup>	(48±2)	(1.28±0.04)



Figure 5.10 Phase angle and impedance spectra over frequency. The change in phase angle from ON state (circles, dominated by a low phase angle, ohmic resistance) to the OFF state (squares, phase angle close to -90°, dominated by capacitance) is clearly observable and in excellent agreement with simulated results previously shown.

# 5.3 Influence of H<sub>2</sub>O and O<sub>2</sub> on the Switching Mechanism of Standard PMMA ORS<sup>2</sup>

To further investigate the switching mechanism a set of experiments was designed to investigate the influence of reactive species, namely water in form of relative humidity (RH-%) and oxygen (O<sub>2</sub> vol.-%). For this experiment the ORS was fabricated according to previously reported methods using the glass/ITO/PMMA (160 nm)/Au (70 nm) stack in a flow cell and a gas-flow controller. In a mix setup the cell is first flushed with inert nitrogen (N<sub>2</sub>). After the conditioning sweep the device is then operated whilst the atmosphere is controlled by selectively adding O<sub>2</sub> or H<sub>2</sub>O to the N<sub>2</sub> atmosphere.



# 5.3.1 Stability of the ON State under Readout and Reactive Atmosphere

Figure 5.11 Stability of the memory ON states read out at a continuous bias of 1 V over time as a function of relative oxygen (a) and relative humidity (b) in nitrogen gas, respectively. The concentration is indicated by the colour and is raised during the measurement. The memory state is clearly preserved over time and the variation of the ON state resistance is minimal when compared to the ON/OFF difference (the OFF state is indicated by the dashed lines). Note that in graph (b) the total measurement time is longer in order to stabilize the humidity in the measurement chamber

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> Parts of this section were published separately in Applied Physical Letters

The device was switched on under inert N<sub>2</sub> atmosphere. Then the reactive gases  $O_2$  and H<sub>2</sub>O are added, respectively. The relative concentration is controlled by a gas-mix setup. By subsequently increasing the concentration of the respective gas, as indicated by the shaded areas in figure 5.11. During the entire measurement the memory state is monitored by reading out the memory at 1 V. Clearly, the stability of the ON state is not significantly influenced as long as the voltage level is low, i.e. read-out around 1 V. Under a constant readout bias of 1 V the memory state did not degrade for a testing time of 200 s for  $O_2$  and 400 s for H<sub>2</sub>O. For H<sub>2</sub>O the measurement time was longer in order to stabilize the RH-% in the cell.

## 5.3.2 Switching Under Atmosphere

After the state-stability was confirmed the actual switching process under reactive atmosphere was investigated. An I-V sweep for the ON device showed that at a certain power occurring around 1.5 V and  $10^{-2} \text{ mA}$  the memory state starts to degrade and the device switches to its OFF state. More detailed investigations revealed that as little as 5 vol.-% O<sub>2</sub> or 10 RH-% were sufficient to lead to a degradation of the memory state and suppress switching under sweep or pulse operation. For the results refer to figure 5.12 and figure 5.13 for RH-% and vol.-% O<sub>2</sub>, respectively. The failure mechanism in both experiments are basically identical: approaching a certain threshold corresponding to a distinctive dissipated power (marked by a certain bias level and current) the filament rapidly degrades. During the following sweep switching is always suppressed. When the chamber is flushed with N<sub>2</sub> for a short time (range of seconds) full switching is re-established without another conditioning sweep.



Figure 5.12 Change of switching behaviour under **relative humidity** in nitrogen atmosphere. After an initial sweep under nitrogen atmosphere (open circle) the device was switched on. Then water vapour (20RH% is shown here) is introduced into the chamber. Under a subsequent I-V sweep the device fails (half-filled circles) at around 4 V indicated by arrows), and switching could not be facilitated (closed circles) in the following sweep. After flushing the chamber with nitrogen for approximately 5 seconds full switching was re-established (open triangles).



Figure 5.13 Change of switching behaviour under **oxygen** atmosphere. The device is initially in its ON state. Oxygen is introduced into the chamber (100% is shown here). Under a subsequent I-V sweep the ON state degrades at around 2 V (indicated by the arrows). Switching from OFF to ON could not be facilitated in the following sweep (closed circles), the reactive atmosphere blocks the switching mechanism. After flushing the chamber with nitrogen for approximately 5 seconds switching was possible again when the memory was tested under I-V sweep (triangles).

# 5.3.3 Switching With Current Compliance

To demonstrate that the suppression of switching is power-related switching in reactive atmosphere under limited current (current compliance (CC)) was tested. For low level of CC switching was possible but under increasing of CC the memory state, again, fails. As such the process of switching ON and OFF is clearly facilitated and limited by dissipated power, respectively. The result is depicted in figure 5.11. An I-V sweep of an OFF device is taken to trigger a switching event. Under as little as 5 vol.-% O<sub>2</sub> in N<sub>2</sub> no switching is observed without CC. When a low CC is set, e.g. 10<sup>-3</sup> mA switching was possible. When the CC was increased, however, the device would again degrade into the OFF state and it is not possible to switch it to the ON state. This is a very strong indication that the switching is related to a certain dissipated power and the presence of a reactive gas lowers the power to degrade the filament significantly.



Figure 5.14 Investigation of switching under reactive atmosphere, here 5 vol.-% O2 in N2. An I-V sweep of the OFF state devices shows that without CC switching from OFF to ON is suppressed (diamonds) and no switching occurs. When the current compliance is set to  $10^{-3}$  mA (half-filled circles) switching ON is again possible. However increasing the CC in the following sweep to  $10^{-1}$  mA resets the memory to the OFF state (triangles). With the same CC no switching occurs in the following I-V sweep.

# 5.4 Time-of-Flight Secondary Ion Mass Spectroscopy

Since all above mentioned investigation methods are indirect methods, i.e. a model of some sort is needed to connect the physical process of resistive switching to the data an additional, direct method for ORS analysis will aid in gaining insight to the switching mechanism.

Devices were fabricated and set to specific conditions (pristine, pre-switching, memory cycle ON, memory cycle OFF) and then analysed by time-of-flight secondary ion mass spectroscopy<sup>3</sup> (TOF SIMS). The nature of TOF SIMS is entirely invasive as a cutting ion beam scans the surface removing atoms. The removed atoms or ions to be precise are then analysed using mass spectroscopy. Thus for each pixel of the device the concentration of a certain ionic species can be determined and a 3-D reconstruction of the device is possible.

Dual beam ToF-SIMS imaging (TOF-SIMS IV spectrometer, by IONTOF) was performed, in non-interlaced mode, using low energy Cs+ ions (500 eV) for sputtering, and a Bi3+ beam for the analysis phase. Each volume element of  $(1x1) \mu m^2$  (in-plane) x 1 nm (in-depth) contains information of the full mass spectrum, with a mass resolution M/ $\Delta$ M~5000. 3D reconstructions are generated by selecting a mass peak in the mass spectrum and visualizing its intensity in the analysed volume. The filament position could be easily identified in operated devices due to the different local chemical composition (mainly due to a higher surface contamination) which modifies the contrast of the secondary ions image of the top electrode surface.

For the evaporated TE the interface was investigated as well as the evolution of filaments in the device at different stages: pristine, cycled, OFF and ON state and completely erased (see figure 5.15). The ON and OFF state can be clearly distinguished by stronger penetration depth of the metal in ON devices compared to OFF. Pristine and ON devices share some similarities as can be expected as pristine devices have shown to be actually in an ON-like state after fabrication.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> The TOF-SIMS analysis was performed by Yan Busby at Université de Namur ASBL.



Figure 5.15 TOF-SIMS reconstruction of the different stages of ORS. OFF, ON and pristine device stages are shown. The lines refer to the concentration of the investigated elements (Au, PMMA, In are shown). ON and pristine device show relative similar characteristics. The Au and In concentration in the PMMA layer is increased compared to the devices in OFF state.

To get a clear spectroscopic picture of the filament in ON and OFF state the surface was scanned for high concentrations of metal ions in the organic layer using <yx> scan mode. At a point of increased metal concentration the device was then cut in the <yz> or <xz> direction to reveal the nature of the filament. The results are depicted in figure 5.16. As can clearly be seen in a pristine device there is only very weak diffusion of gold from the TE in the organic layer. Upon conditioning this concentration is clearly increased leading to a strong filament-type gold path in active and inactive devices whereas the latter only differs in the absolute concentration but not in the nature of the filament. In switched ON devices (active filament) there is a considerable counter-drift of indium from the BE that is not present in the OFF device (inactivated filament). We can thus conclude that the switching is facilitated in terms of change of indium concentration. If the device is forcefully deleted (burned out) there is a hole from the TE to BE and in the organic layer. An investigation of other elements ("contaminants") show (figure 5.17) that there seems to be a hole in the PMMA where the contamination is dominant when compared to the surrounding area.



Figure 5.16 TOF-SIMS analysis of Au, PMMA and In of different states of differently conditioned ORS. (A) Pristine device, (B) active filament, (C) inactivated filament (D) erased filament. Compared to the pristine device the concentrations of Au and In in the PMMA layer for active devices is clearly increased. In an inactivated ORS the In concentration is reduced. In an erased filament Au and IN is completely removed from the PMMA layer.



Figure 5.17 ToF-SIMS cross-sections reconstructed from 3D profiles showing the preferential diffusion of contaminants (here for S but similar results for Cl, O, K) in an erased filament (left panels) and a ready-to-switch filament (right panels).

# 6 ORS with Transfer Printed Gold Top Electrode

There is a widespread uncertainty about the role of metal atoms or ions implanted in the organic layer during fabrication on the switching behaviour. Early reports on ORS go as far as to claim that metal present within the organic layer is critical for the switching ability<sup>67</sup> and related mentioning of metal implanted in the organic layer during evaporation of the top electrode to be substantial for switching<sup>99,100</sup>.

# 6.1 Fabrication of Transfer Printed ORS

Since the switching mechanism in MIM device seems to be universal the influence of implantation can be questioned. To investigate this thoroughly ORS were fabricated without evaporation of the top electrode (TE). Instead the TE was transferred by means of van-der-Waals forces under intimate contact of a soft polydimethylsiloxane (PDMS) stamp covered with gold under low temperature, a so called metal transfer print (MTP), also frequently referred to direct metal transfer (DMT) in literature<sup>101</sup>. The successful fabrication of ORS using MTP shows that roll-to-roll fabrication is a suitable fabrication method for ORS.

#### 6.1.1 Stamp Fabrication for MTP

First a negative of the electrode structure (essentially two parallel metal lines with a width of approximately 3 mm) were patterned on a Si-wafer using a photolithographic process and SU-8 photo resin. Then the wafer was mounted in a casting mould (3D printed). The PDMS (Sylgard 184, Dow Corning) was mixed (1:10 of curing agent:silicone base) and degassed in an exicator to remove the bubbles. After carefully casting the PDMS into the mould it was cured for about 4 hours under elevated temperature of 60°C. This results in a bubble-free flexible substrate carrying the elevated features of the electrodes (figure 6.1).

Before the PDMS stamp is covered with metal it was treated with hexamethyldisilazane (HMDS) at high temperature to ease the transfer from the stamp to the ORS device.

Finally the stamps are mounted in the vacuum chamber and gold is evaporated at a base pressure of  $1*10^{-6}$  mbar at a steady rate of 1 nm s<sup>-1</sup> to a thickness of about 70 to 100 nm (confirmed by AFM).



Figure 6.1 Stamp mould and PDMS stamp as prepared for HMDS treatment

# 6.1.2 Fabrication of ORS Using MTP

The remaining layer of the ORS was again spin cast (PMMA 30 g/L toluene, 160 nm) and annealed at 170°C on top of patterned ITO on glass substrate. After heat treatment the gold covered PDMS stamp and the substrate was brought to transfer temperature (range 105°C-160°C) and the stamp is aligned and placed on the PMMA using only a small additional weight of about 30 g. After waiting 10-30 seconds the stack is removed from the heat plate and cooled down to room temperature (about 10 min). With a swift motion the stamp is removed and the gold is transferred neatly to the PMMA. Scanning electron microscopy investigations revealed that the so transferred layer consists of many islands and micro-cracks (figure 6.2) but conductivity was close to literature values for a neat evaporated Au film (confirmed by four-probe measurement).



Figure 6.2 Gold layer after transfer under the scanning electron microscope clearly showing a huge amount of cracks and islands.

Electrical characterization was performed using an Agilent B1500A parameter analyser. The device was kept under inert Ar atmosphere in a glove box ( $O_2$ ,  $H_2O < 1$  ppm). Contact was obtained via tungsten needles on a probe stage (Züss PM5)

# 6.1.3 Conditioning Procedure

Switching ability was easily obtained by applying a single 0-15 V sweep. In that aspect there is virtually no difference to the evaporate TE devices. As shown in figure 6.3 the device seemed to be initially in an ON-like state. This might be due to a very inhomogeneous TE and a likewise fabrication-related increased defect density in the PMMA layer leading to a pre-conditioning filament. The high current degrades around 3 V under the initial sweep and upon reverse sweep direction switching can be observed.



Figure 6.3 Conditioning of MTP ORS. The device was ready to switch after a single 0-15 V sweep. The device appeared to be initially in an ON state (high current level) and was reset by the initial sweep (indicated by the arrow).

# 6.1.4 Memory Sweep Characteristics

A double sweep of the conditioned MTP TE ORS is shown in figure 6.4. Similar to the standard ORS device the threshold voltage is around 2.5 V and the NDR spans from 3.5 to 5 V. The ON/OFF ratio is slightly lower at  $10^3$  measured at 1 V.



Figure 6.4 I-V sweep characteristics of the MTP TE ORS. Threshold voltage is about 2.5 V with an NDR spanning from 3.5 to 5 V. ON/OFF ratio is about  $10^3$  at 1 V.

## 6.1.5 Memory Retention Measurement

The ON state of a switched ON device stored in a glove box was not altered over a duration of 4 weeks.

# 6.1.6 LCR Spectroscopy

For ON and OFF state the full LCR spectrum was recorded. It clearly shows the transition of an ohmic to capacitive behaviour following the switching OFF. For the results see figure 6.5.



Figure 6.5 Phase and impedance spectrum for OFF (half-filled circles) and ON state (half-filled squares) of the MTP TE ORS.

Impedance analysis was performed with previously described parameters and ECD. The results are given in table 3. As expected the ON/OFF switching can be attributed to a change in the shunt resistance  $R_{SH}$  whilst series resistance  $R_s$  and capacitance C remain almost constant. In absolute numbers  $R_{SH}$  shows an all-over reduction by three orders of magnitude when compared to the reference PMMA device but other than that the values show a comparable trend.

Table 3 Results for impedance spectroscopy of ON and OFF state ITO/PMMA/Au MTP ORS. The uncertainty shown is solely of the fit. The fitting routine used was Levenberg–Marquardt. As expected the  $R_S$  changes only insignificantly and the capacitance for ON and OFF state is almost identical. The main contribution to ON/OFF switching is the shunt resistance, a strong indicator for filamentary switching. The uncertainty of the fit for the OFF state is higher due to higher noise in the spectrum

	$ m R_{SH}\left(\Omega ight)$	$R_{S}(\Omega)$	C (nF)
ON	(849±0.3)	(49±0.3)	$(2.00\pm0.01)$
OFF	$(8.1\pm0.5)*10^5$	(50±5)	(2.1±0.05)

# 6.1.7 TOF-SIMS Spectrometry

The SIMS analysis of the MTP TE device turned out to be a difficult task as the holes in the top electrode lead to a strong superposition of the PMMA signal and ITO signal from the bottom of the device and the signal from the top (gold ions), see figure 6.6. This clearly shows that the film is not uniform (as previously shown using SEM, figure 6.2). As the functionality of the device was demonstrated nevertheless this is not directly a drawback.



Figure 6.6 TOF-SIMS reconstruction of the interface for MTP TE ORS. There is a dominant signal from the bottom of the device over the active layer (PMMA) and some signal intermixing from BE (ITO) and TE (gold). A clear reconstruction of the interfaces was therefore not possible.

# 7 Laminated ORS

# 7.1 Fabrication of Au/PMMA/Au ORS via Lamination

A different approach to fabricate ORS is lamination. In this method top and bottom half of the device are fabricated separately and then laminated together using heat and pressure. Like MTP this fabrication method is related to roll-to-roll (R2R) fabrication that recently has gained a lot of attention in different areas of semiconductor industry<sup>102</sup>.

# 7.1.1 Fabrication of Half ORS Cells

The top and bottom half are fabricated symmetrically with respect to the active layer. A flexible substrate, Kapton HN500 (DuPont) was chosen as it shows high stability with respect to solvents and high temperatures. The foil was cut into wafer-sized pieces, cleaned according to standard procedure. The cleaned substrate were mounted on PDMS covered glass that acts as support for spin coating. In the following step silver was deposited in the VDD at a base pressure of 1\*10-6 mbar at a rate of 1 nm s-1 resulting in a 70 nm thick layer. The so prepared patterned substrates were O<sub>2</sub>-plasma etched for 30 seconds at 50% in order to increase wettability and PMMA was spin-coated on each half of the device resulting in a layer thickness between 160 nm and 220 nm (confirmed by AFM) for concentrations of 30 g/L to 50 g/L PMMA in toluene.

# 7.1.2 Fabrication of PDMS Support Substrates

Processing flexible substrates with standard methods usually exhibits difficulties due to the flexibility. It is therefore advised to mount the foil on a supporting substrate. PDMS allows for an intimate contact between substrate and foil and allows for complete and clean removal after processing. First PDMS is mixed 1:10 (curing agent to silicon base) and degassed in an exicator for about 30 min to remove air bubbles. The resulting PDMS is then diluted using n-hexane 50:50 (by volume). This results in a thin viscose liquid that can be easily spin-coated on glass substrates using high speeds (around 5000 rpm gave the best results). Subsequently the PDMS covered glass substrate is annealed at 170°C to remove residual solvents for 10 min.

#### 7.1.3 Lamination of ORS

The completed half devices are laminated using heat and pressure. First a working window was obtained, where functioning devices could be fabricated. If for example heat and pressure are too high the devices are short circuited, if either is too low the devices are not mechanically stable and delaminate.

Careful evaluation of temperature (T, °C) and pressure (p, bar) was necessary in order to produce devices that have a firm contact between bottom and top half but avoiding short-circuiting the device due to too high temperature and/or pressure. By variation of both process parameters a working window was established:  $90^{\circ}C < T < 95^{\circ}C$  (literature values for  $T_g=105^{\circ}C$ ) and 20 bar bar (see figure 7.1).



Figure 7.1 working window for lamination with respect to temperature and pressure. Inside the working window the lamination procedure yielded working laminated devices. If the pressure or temperature is chosen too low the devices delaminate, if they are too high the devices are short-circuited.

For the lamination procedure two metal blocks were pressed together using disk-springs. The force can be adjusted by the compression of the springs, pressure is calculated by dividing the force by the full device area. The whole device is held under constant temperature on a hot plate, figure 7.2. After approximately 10 minutes the lamination block is cooled down to room

temperature and the device can be removed. The resulting devices are mechanically stable and not short circuited. An example is shown in figure 7.3



Figure 7.2 lamination device. The metal blocks are held together by four screws. Spring disks can be seen on the screws.



Figure 7.3 Laminated ORS in crossbar structure. The device structure is Kapton/Ag (70 nm)/PMMA (220 nm)| PMMA (220 nm)/Ag (70 nm)/Kapton.

# 7.2 Electrical Characterization

The Kapton was carefully removed using a scalpel to expose the electrodes. Adhesive silver was applied in order to guarantee a good electrical contact. All characterization was carried out under glove box Ar atmosphere ( $O_2$ ,  $H_2O < 1$  ppm) using an Agilent B1500A parameter analyzer contacted by tungsten needles on a probe station.

#### 7.2.1 Conditioning Procedure

Conditioning consisted of a single 0-13 V sweep. The device was initially in OFF state but switched on at increased bias (figure 7.4). A CC was set as previously fabricated devices had shown to be sensitive to high current levels at high conditioning bias resulting in recurring breakdown.



Figure 7.4 conditioning sweep of laminated ORS. A single sweep from 0-13 V established switching

## 7.2.2 Memory Sweep Characteristics

The I-V characteristic is shown in figure 7.5. The threshold voltage lies around 3 V and is as such comparable to the standard device. ON/OFF ratio however is poor in this devices and did not exceed  $10^2$  at 1 V. The NDR was not well pronounced and switching repeatedly failed and the device needed conditioning sweeps repeatedly. It was concluded that the high pressure and elevated temperatures necessary for reliable mechanic stability are not suited to fabricate electrically stable and reliable ORS.



Figure 7.5 I-V characteristics under sweep. The switching however was not reliable, the NDR is not well pronounced and the ON/OFF ratio is about 100 at 1 V.
# 8 ORS on Super-Thin Substrate Mylar1.4

Recently new form factors, e.g. devices that bend or stretch or can conform to surfaces, especially skin, have gained a lot of attention<sup>68,103</sup>. Processing on ultrathin substrates like Mylar1.4 (DuPont Teijin Films) poses additional challenges for processing, e.g. poor mechanical or chemical stability.

The flexible substrate Mylar1.4<sup>®</sup> CW02 is a PET film initially designed for wound capacitors. It has a film thickness of 1.4  $\mu$ m, an RMS surface roughness of 26 nm and a maximum roughness of 700 nm<sup>104</sup>. The substrate was obtained from Pütz Folien GmbH<sup>105</sup>.

## 8.1 Fabrication of Metal/Organic/Metal ORS on Super-Thin Substrates

Since spin-casting did not seem applicable for this type of device the organic semiconductor tris(8-hydroxyquinolinato)aluminium (Alq<sub>3</sub>) was chosen as organic layer as it can be deposited using a VDD.

For this device Mylar1.4 was mounted on PDMS coated glass slides and cut to the right dimensions. The foil was carefully cleaned by rinsing with propanol and blow-dried under N<sub>2</sub>. As BE silver was deposited under a base pressure of  $1*10^{-6}$  mbar at a steady rate of 1 nm s<sup>-1</sup> resulting in a 70 nm thick layer. As active layer Alq<sub>3</sub> was deposited at a rate of 0.1 nm s<sup>-1</sup> at a base pressure of  $7*10^{-7}$  mbar resulting in 270 nm. Eventually the TE was deposited, silver again under above noted conditions to result in a 100 nm layer. Between the deposition steps vacuum was not broken. The devices are measured in glove box under Ar inert atmosphere.

During measurement the devices were attached to the supporting substrate. When they are removed from it one obtains a very thin, light and highly flexible device that easily adheres and conforms to thin structures, see, for example, figure 8.1.



Figure 8.1 An ORS on super thin Mylar1.4 substrate. a) the ORS is mounted on the supporting substrate. b) after removal from the support substrate as a free thin film. The device is so thin and flexible it easily conforms to thin structures, shown in c) and d).

## 8.2 Electrical Characterization

## 8.2.1 Conditioning Procedure

The device is initially in its OFF state and conditioning was a straight-forward procedure. The results are depicted in figure 8.2.



Figure 8.2 Conditioning sweep of  $Ag/Alq_3/Ag$  device. The device was initially in its OFF state but was switching ready after a sweep up to 23 V.

### 8.2.2 Memory Sweep Characteristics

I-V sweep characteristics were obtained (figure 8.3). The threshold voltage is about 3 V with an NDR region spanning from 3.5 V to 4.5 V. ON/OFF ratio is about  $10^5$  at 1 V. The absolute current levels (at equal electrode area of  $3x3 \text{ mm}^2$ ) are higher as in the PMMA reference device since Alq<sub>3</sub> is a semiconductor and exhibits higher intrinsic conductivity. All measurements were taken whilst the device was still mounted on the supporting substrate.



Figure 8.3 I-V sweep characteristic for metal/Alq<sub>3</sub>/metal ORS on ultrathin substrate Mylar 1.4. The device exhibits a threshold-voltage of 3 V and an NDR between 4 and 5 V. The ON/OFF ratio is about  $10^5$  at 1 V. The current levels of this device are high compared to the PMMA reference device which is attributed to the higher intrinsic conductivity of the semiconductor Alq<sub>3</sub>.

#### 8.2.3 LCR Spectroscopy

Impedance analysis was performed with previously described parameters and ECD. The results are given in table 4. As expected the ON/OFF switching can be attributed to a change in the shunt resistance  $R_{SH}$  whilst series resistance  $R_s$  and capacitance C remain almost constant.

Table 4 Results for impedance spectroscopy of ON and OFF state Ag/Alq<sub>3</sub>/Ag ORS on super thin-substrate. The uncertainty shown is solely of the fit. The fitting routine used was Levenberg–Marquardt. As expected the  $R_s$  changes only insignificantly and the capacitance for ON and OFF state is almost identical. The main contribution to ON/OFF switching is the shunt resistance, a strong indicator for filamentary switching. The uncertainty of the fit for the OFF state is higher due to higher noise in the spectrum

	RsH (Ohm)	Rs (Ohm)	C (nF)
ON	$(1.1\pm0.1)*10^4$	(42±0.2)	(1.12 ±0.04)
OFF	$(9.2\pm0.1)*10^{6}$	(48±3)	(1.13±0.05)

# 9 Nanoscale Organic Resistive Switch

As mentioned in the introduction downsizing is a major driving force of the semiconductor industry. It is as such of great academic and engineering interest to explore the lower size limit of a technology. For inorganic resistive switches downscaling to 20 nm was successfully demonstrated<sup>106</sup>.

## 9.1 Fabrication of Nanoscale ORS

The small sizes prohibit fabrication via the previously reported methods, i.e. shadow-mask evaporation or MTP. To fabricate devices with features in the nm regime e-beam lithography and a lift-off process was utilized<sup>4</sup>.

Devices fabricated had Cr/Au/SU-8/Au or Cr/Au/SU-8/Cr structure. SU-8 is an epoxy-based negative photoresist by MicroChem<sup>107</sup> that exhibits similar electrical properties to PMMA. The device layout is depicted schematically in figure 9.1. On the left hand side the stack-structure for a Cr/Au/Su-8/Au device is given. The Cr layer acts as adhesion promoter for the gold layer and is omitted in the schematic. The pixels are formed by the intersection of TE and BE.



Figure 9.1 Schematic of the Nano-ORS with gold/SU8/gold stack structure. On the right-hand side the principle layout is depicted. The intersection of the electrode lines form devices of different electrode area. Larger contact pads are processed as well to allow contacting the devices using the standard tungsten needles.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> Device fabrication and SEM characterization was performed by Johannes Kofler at NTC Weiz.

Different electrode widths, electrode materials and active layer thicknesses were explored. Details are given in table 5. The devices are given different designations *Nano1* to *Nano4* to address them in the text.

Table 5 Device structure and electrode dimensions for Nano-ORS. Given are the line widths of the electrodes
(multiple possible on one substrate) and the layer thickness (approximately) of the SU8 layer

Device	Structure	Line widths (nm)	SU8 thickness (nm)
Nano1	Cr (4 nm)/Au (30 nm)/SU8/Au (30 nm)	20	180
Nano2	Cr (4 nm)/Au (30 nm)/SU8/Au (30 nm)	20	180
Nano3	Cr (4 nm)/Au (30 nm)/SU8/Cr (30 nm)	20	180
Nano4	Cr (4 nm)/Au (30 nm)/SU8/Au (30 nm)	1000, 500, 200, 100	30

The reduced device dimension pose some challenges for the characterization. Contact was obtained as previously reported using tungsten needles on a probe station.

## 9.2 Nanoscale ORS 1

The structure of the ORS Nano1 was Cr (4 nm)/Au (30 nm)/SU-8 (180 nm)/Au (30 nm). The line width of TE and BE are 20 nm each resulting in an active area of (20x20) nm<sup>2</sup>. A pixel is shown in figure 9.2.



Figure 9.2 Memory pixel of Nano1. The intersection of TE and BE each of width 20 nm is shown in a SEM image.

#### 9.2.1 Conditioning Procedure

Interestingly the conditioning of the device proved rather cumbersome. Since the device structure is similar to previously conditioned Au/PMMA/Au devices a conditioning voltage of about 15 V was expected but it turned out that voltages as high as 100 V were necessary. The drastically decreased active area of the device makes it less likely to contain defects. These defects presumably lead to a locally enhanced electric field which act as strong driving force for the metal drift. Since the high bias would cause thermal destruction upon switching it was necessary to gradually increase the CC in steps of only a few ten nA. The conditioning procedure is depicted in figure 9.3 for Nano1 with an electrode width of 20 nm. The CC is gradually increased after every sweep and a bias as high as 60 V was necessary. A discharge peak can be seen that gradually vanishes. When the discharge peak vanishes from the I-V characteristics a filament is apparently formed and the device is ready to switch.



Figure 9.3 Conditioning procedure of ORS Nano1 and a device of 20 nm electrode width. The CC is increased gradually after each sweep (only a few sweeps are shown for clarity). The initially appearing peak at reverse sweep direction decreases after each subsequent sweep. When the peak does no longer occur a filament is apparently formed and the device is ready to switch.

#### 9.2.2 Memory Sweep Characteristics

After conditioning the device was attempted to switch in I-V sweep mode. The initial results were very promising as the ON/OFF ratio exceeded expectations by reaching  $10^6$  at 1 V, mostly due to the very low OFF current limited by the small active area of (20x20) nm<sup>2</sup>. The result is shown in figure 9.4. As can be clearly seen the threshold voltage was shifted to higher values (a shift of about 4 V leading to a threshold of 7 V) relative to the reference PMMA ORS.



Figure 9.4 I-V sweep of ORS Nano1 and an electrode width of 20 nm. The threshold voltage is shifted to higher values at around 7 V. The ON/OFF ratio is  $>10^6$  at 1 V

In order to investigate the shift of threshold voltage the device was investigated under the SEM. Small gaps in the support line leading to the intersection were discovered, most likely due to a process instability during the e-beam lithography. The higher resistance could be explained by such gaps in the supply line being not completely closed as were observed in SEM image figure 9.5. Apparently the gaps in the supply line are closed during conditioning but do not form a perfectly conducting structure thus adding to the resistance.



Figure 9.5 Schematic explanation of high threshold voltage due to additional resistors formed by gaps in the supply line. In the SEM image gaps in the line structure were observed, most likely due to a drift in the e-beam during lithography. During conditioning the gaps are apparently closed but do not form a well conducting structure

The devices on the ORS Nano1 showed stability issues where the ORS would be irreversibly damaged during sweep operation. The SEM analysis showed that the whole electrode intersection was ablated due to thermal stress leaving no conducting structure behind (figure 9.6). The small structure apparently poses as a strict constrain on the switching power.

It was possible to analyse a switched ON device, depicted in figure 9.6. The structure in the centre of the active area is most likely a formed filament.



Figure 9.6 SEM images of Nano1 ORS in two different conditions. Healthy pre-switching ORS (a) compared to a thermally destroyed ORS (b) that failed during sweep operation. The electrical failure seems to ablate the whole TE in the vicinity of the crosspoint. Local temperatures seem to be high enough to destroy the active layer (SU-8) as well.



Figure 9.7 SEM image of Nano1 ORS. The electrode width is approximately 20 nm resulting in an active area of (20x20) nm<sup>2</sup>. The image shows the active area of a switched ON working device. In the centre of the pixel a structure is visible that presumably is a filament of the ON state device.

### 9.3 Nanoscale ORS 2

In order to determine if the increased threshold voltage was a side-effect of build-errors in the support line another set of devices was fabricated with the same process parameters and structure. The width of the electrodes was slightly increased to 50 nm resulting in a (50x50) nm<sup>2</sup> active area.

#### 9.3.1 Conditioning Procedure

Conditioning of the second series nanoscale ORS (Nano2) was similar to previously shown conditioning procedure and is shown in figure 9.8. By gradually increasing the CC after each sweep and bias levels up to 100 V the discharge peak vanished and the device seemed ready to switch.



Figure 9.8 Conditioning of ORS Nano2 with a structure of Cr/Au/SU8/Au. The device had an active area of (20x20) nm<sup>2</sup>. Under gradually increasing CC the discharge peak vanishes and the device is ready to switch.

#### 9.3.2 Memory Sweep Character

The memory could not be switched to ON as all devices were destroyed during sweep operation. This could indicate that in previously switched devices the horizontal gaps in the supply line acted as intrinsic current compliance protecting the device during filament formation. As no such gaps were discovered in Nano2 a high current would be able to thermally overload the device.

When investigated under SEM all electrodes were ablated in devices where switching was attempted as shown in figure 9.9.



Figure 9.9 SEM image of the thermally destroyed active area of ORS Nano2. Apparently the device exhibited massive current overload on switching attempt and the electrode is ablated.

### 9.4 Nanoscale ORS 3

From series 1 and 2 of the nanoscale ORS it is apparent that thermal overload of the device destroys the TE. In an attempt to overcome this issue a device with chromium TE was fabricated. This should result in a device that is less susceptible to melting of the TE as chromium has a higher melting temperature.

#### 9.4.1 Conditioning Procedure

Conditioning was successful with the same procedure as noted above (see figure 9.10).



Figure 9.10 Conditioning procedure of ORS Nano3. After a few conditioning sweeps with increasing CC switching could be obtained

### 9.4.2 Memory Sweep Characteristics

For this device reliable switching was finally possible in I-V sweep mode. The result of a full I-V sweep is shown in figure 9.11. The ORS has a threshold voltage of about 3 V (comparable to the reference PMMA device), the NDR extends from 3.5 to 5 V and the ON/OFF ratio is about  $10^8$  at 1 V readout bias, which is higher than in the reference PMMA device. This behaviour can be explained by the area-limited current in the OFF state.



Figure 9.11 I-V sweep characteristics of nanoscale ORS 3 with the structure Cr/Au/SU8/Cr. Threshold voltage was about 3 V and the ON/OFF ratio is about  $10^8$  at 1 V.

## 9.4.3 LCR Spectroscopy

For the ORS Nano3 ON and OFF state impedance spectra were taken. The phase angle clearly shows a transition from ohmic to capacitive transition when the device is switched from ON to OFF (figure 9.12).



Figure 9.12 Phase angle and impedance over frequency for ON (squares) and OFF (circles) state of nanoscale ORS 3. The transition from ohmic to capacitive behaviour under switching OFF can be observed.

The impedance analysis yielded the values presented in table 6 for R<sub>s</sub>, R<sub>SH</sub> and C of the ECD. The analysis showed that again the switching is primarily facilitated through a change of shunt-resistance R<sub>SH</sub> whilst C and R<sub>s</sub> exhibiting almost constant values for ON and OFF state. The high resistance of the OFF state increased the noise level and thus the uncertainty of the measurement when compared to the reference PMMA device.

Table 6 Results for impedance spectroscopy of ON and OFF state Cr/Au/SU8/Cr nanoscale ORS. The uncertainty shown is solely of the fit. The fitting routine used was Levenberg–Marquardt. As expected the  $R_S$  changes only insignificantly and the capacitance for ON and OFF state is almost identical. The main contribution to ON/OFF switching is the shunt resistance, a strong indicator for filamentary switching. The uncertainty of the fit for the OFF state is higher due to higher noise in the spectrum

	R <sub>SH</sub> (Ohm)	Rs (Ohm)	C (pF)
ON	$(2.2\pm0.07)*10^5$	(3200±300)	(2.5 ±0.2)
OFF	$(6.8\pm0.1)*10^8$	(3100±700)	(2.5±0.7)

## 9.5 Nanoscale ORS 4

Previously fabricated nano-ORS seem to fail at a certain point due to thermal stress that occurred during conditioning rather than switching. Since a critical field has to be applied in order to form a pre-filament<sup>91</sup> reducing the interlayer thickness seemed a reasonable next step. In ORS Nano4 the layer thickness was reduced to about 30 nm (an approximately 6-fold reduction from previous ORS) and different electrode widths of 1000 nm, 500 nm, 200 nm and 100 nm were used to form the pixels.

### 9.5.1 Conditioning Procedure

Initially the conditioning procedure looks very promising. The voltage associated with the critical field for pre-filament formation is clearly reduced (from about 100 V to 60 V) when compared to ORS with higher SU8 thickness. Unfortunately the conditioning regularly failed at current levels too low to indicate switching ability of the ORS. This is displayed in figure 9.13. Initially the CC can be increased from 10<sup>-6</sup> mA to 10<sup>-4</sup> mA. If the CC is increased further the device suddenly fails (triangles in the plot), indicating overload of the device.



Figure 9.13 Conditioning of nanoscale ORS Nano4. Each sweep the CC was increased from  $10^{-6}$  mA to  $10^{-4}$  mA. The ORS were unable to sustain a current high enough to allow resistive switching (~ $10^{-3}$  mA) as it fails during the sweep (triangles). The lower critical voltage compared to thicker ORS devices e.g. Nano2 is visible from the early onset (about 60 V compared to 100 V).

#### 9.5.2 Memory Sweep Characteristics

Next a critical lower limit for electrode line width for reliable memory operation was investigated. From the standard device it is known that dimensions of (3x3) mm<sup>2</sup> pose no problems. For the miniaturization line widths of 1000 nm, 500 nm, 200 nm and 100 nm were tested. Surprisingly only ORS with an electrode width of 1 µm could be switched reliably (figure 9.14), all smaller ORS failed under above displayed failure mode.



Figure 9.14 Bistability in ORS Nano4 with 1000 nm electrode width. The device exhibits a threshold voltage of about 3 V comparable to the reference PMMA ORS. The NDR is not well pronounced but extends approximately from 3.5 to 7 V. The ON/OFF ratio of this device was reduced and only reached about  $10^2$  at 1 V due to a very high OFF-current.

SEM images of the cycled devices were obtained to analyse the cause of electrical failure. From the obtained images it was again apparent that the devices thermally overload and the TE cracks or evaporates during the conditioning or switching attempt. First the successfully switched devices was analysed (figure 9.15). The image shows that the TE is intact. However a small "dent" exists in the top-right corner of the pixel that might explain the high OFF-current. Either during fabrication or conditioning the TE and/or the underlying SU8 seems to have been damaged. A comparison with a device that exhibited breakdown (figure 9.16) shows that in this case, as previously observed, the TE is destroyed most likely due to thermal overload. A large crack now separates the supply line (extends to the right side, shown in the inset) from the pixel.



Figure 9.15 Nanoscale ORS Nano4 in a SEM image. The electrode width of the device is  $(1x1) \mu m$ . This device successfully switched in I-V sweep mode but the OFF-current was high. This might be attributed to a short-circuit path in the top-right corner of the pixel.



Figure 9.16 Nanoscale ORS Nano4 in a SEM image. The device had an electrode width of 1  $\mu$ m. This device failed during conditioning. The destroyed TE is clearly visible. A crack separates the supply line (extends to the right as shown in the inset) from the intersection that forms the memory pixel.

All devices with an electrode width smaller than 1  $\mu$ m showed similar images of destroyed electrodes in the SEM.

# 10 Summary and Conclusion

The switching in metal/PMMA/metal ORS has been demonstrated to be clearly of filamentary nature. This is supported by the I-V characteristics as well as impedance spectroscopy that show a transition of the phase angle from close to 0° in the ON state to close to -90° for the OFF state associated with a change in conduction mode from ohmic to space-charge-limited current.

The formation of so-called pre-filaments has been demonstrated by TOF-SIMS analysis. Those filaments are ready to switch upon the following sweep and their formation is closely related to the field strength applied over the organic layer. In most devices the field associated with the conditioning voltage is in the range of  $E=U/d=15/(200*10^{-9})=65$  MV/m. Local fields might be much stronger as previously diffused metal atoms can form tips that greatly enhance the local field. Under this voltage a strong drift of metal ion from the TE occurs simultaneously to a counter-drift from the BE, as was shown by TOF-SIMS spectrometry of conditioned devices. The switching ON and OFF is mediated by a rather small local change of metal concentration close to the BE.

In the presence of reactive species, namely water vapour and oxygen the power necessary to degrade the filament is significantly altered. This points towards an electrochemical reaction that might be enabled by local high temperature due to Joule heating. After degradation of an active filament under reactive atmosphere and reintroduction of the OFF device into inert atmosphere the device is ready-to-switch without another conditioning procedure. This shows that not only a single but probably multiple filaments coexist in the active layer, as is likely due to the stochastic nature of filament formation. The fact that multiple filaments are active during switching is also strongly suggested by previous reports in literature were multiple hot-spots were recorded using an infrared camera<sup>108</sup> and conductive AFM studies<sup>109</sup>.

The final experiment concerning the downsizing of the ORS puts forward a certain constrain concerning the shrinking of ORS. As demonstrated switching in devices of (20x20) nm<sup>2</sup> to (50x50) nm<sup>2</sup> is not easily possible as the heat cannot be transported away from the switching region fast enough and thermally overloads the active zone leading to a rapid and irreversible degradation of the filament close to the switching region. The form of the rupture and the form of the remaining electrodes hint that the material (here gold and chrome) liquefies or evaporates at a high rate. Of course heat dissipation<sup>21</sup> is not a problem that is unique for ORS but at the current stage of development and owing to the necessity of filament formation it poses a serious issue. Furthermore it can be expected that at a certain area the material available to form a

second filament when the previous filament (filaments) is completely erased as was shown in the TOF-SIMS data is not readily available in such small dimensions.

ORS based on metal/PMMA/metal sandwich structure clearly show advantageous features such as ease of processing under ambient temperature using a variety of fabrication methods, viz. vapour deposition, direct metal transfer, closely related to roll-to-roll fabrication technique, lamination or lithographic methods. The devices can be fabricated on a variety of rigid and flexible substrates as well as super thin polymer foil.

The single pixel exhibits excellent conditioning behaviour, stable switching patterns and longterm retention even when temporarily exposed to reactive atmospheres, i.e. water and oxygen. The ON/OFF ratio is better than most competing device structures in this class making metal/organic/metal resistive switches a very promising realization of resistive memory.

# 11 Index of Acronyms

charged limited current (SCLC), 31 current compliance (CC), 41 density of states (DOS), 13 direct metal transfer (DMT), 47 dynamic RAM (DRAM, 5 electrochemical cell (ECM), 18 electrochemical metallization mechanism (ECM). 17 electron beam (ebeam), 1 equivalent circuit (EC), 35 equivalent circuit diagram (ECD), 35 extreme ultra-violet (EUV), 1 ferroelectric RAM (FeRAM), 14 giant magnetoresistance (GMR), 8 hard disk drives (HDD), 8 hexamethyldisilazane (HMDS), 47 indium tin oxide (ITO), 22 international technology roadmap for semiconductor (ITRS), 1 metal transfer print (MTP),, 47 metal/insulator/metal (MIM), 2 micro-electromechanical systems (MEMS), 15 More Moore (MM), 1

More-than-Moore (MTM), 1 next generation memory (NGM),, 10 organic resistive switches (ORS)., 21 oxygen (O<sub>2</sub> vol.-%)., 38 phase change memory (PCM),, 12 polydimethylsiloxane (PDMS), 47 random access memory (SRAM), 6 relative humidity (RH-%), 38 roll-to-roll (R2R), 55 self-assembled monolayer (SAM)., 16 Simmons and Verderber (SV-mechanism), 23 static random access memory (SRAM), 5 storage class memory (SCM)., 11 time-of-flight secondary ion mass spectroscopy (TOF SIMS)., 42 top electrode (TE)., 47 tris(8-hydroxyquinolinato)aluminium (Alg<sub>3</sub>), 61 tunnel magnetoresistance (TMR), 8 using atomic force microscopy (AFM), 28 vacuum deposition device (VDD), 28 valence change mechanism (VCM), 17

# 12 References

- Moore, G. E. Cramming More Components Onto Integrated Circuits. *Proc. IEEE* 86, 82–85 (1998).
- EUV Chipmaking Inches Forward IEEE Spectrum. at <a href="http://spectrum.ieee.org/semiconductors/devices/euv-chipmaking-inches-forward">http://spectrum.ieee.org/semiconductors/devices/euv-chipmaking-inches-forward</a>
- Seeing Double IEEE Spectrum. at <a href="http://spectrum.ieee.org/semiconductors/design/seeing-double">http://spectrum.ieee.org/semiconductors/design/seeing-double</a>
- 4. Courtland, B. R. & Hu, C. The End of the Shrink. 26–29 (2013).
- 5. Graef, M. White Paper. at <www.itrs.net/Links/2010ITRS/IRC-ITRS-MtM-v2 3.pdf>
- Black, B., Nelson, D. W., Webb, C. & Samra, N. 3D processing technology and its impact on iA32 microprocessors. *IEEE Int. Conf. Comput. Des. VLSI Comput. Process.* 2004. ICCD 2004. Proceedings. 316–318 doi:10.1109/ICCD.2004.1347939
- Vreeken, J. Spiking neural networks, an introduction. 1–5 (2003). at <a href="http://dspace.library.uu.nl/handle/1874/24416">http://dspace.library.uu.nl/handle/1874/24416</a>
- Chua, L. Memristor-The missing circuit element. *IEEE Trans. Circuit Theory* 18, 507– 519 (1971).
- 9. Chua, L. O. Memristive devices and systems. *Proc. IEEE* 64, 209–223 (1976).
- Strukov, D. B., Snider, G. S., Stewart, D. R. & Williams, R. S. The missing memristor found. *Nature* 453, 80–83 (2008).
- SRAM Technology. at <a href="https://web.eecs.umich.edu/~prabal/teaching/eecs373-f11/readings/sram-technology.pdf">https://web.eecs.umich.edu/~prabal/teaching/eecs373-f11/readings/sram-technology.pdf</a>>
- 12. ICE DRAM. at <a href="http://smithsonianchips.si.edu/ice/cd/MEMORY97/SEC07.PDF">http://smithsonianchips.si.edu/ice/cd/MEMORY97/SEC07.PDF</a>
- 13. 2.1.1 Flash Memory. at <a href="http://www.iue.tuwien.ac.at/phd/windbacher/node14.html">http://www.iue.tuwien.ac.at/phd/windbacher/node14.html</a>

- Bez, R., Camerlenghi, E., Modelli, A. & Visconti, A. Introduction to flash memory. *Proc. IEEE* 91, 489–502 (2003).
- Schuhl, A. & Lacour, D. Spin dependent transport: GMR & TMR. Comptes Rendus Phys. 6, 945–955 (2005).
- 16. Hard Disk Drives' Densities to Double by 2016 Analysts X-bit labs. at <a href="http://www.xbitlabs.com/news/storage/display/20120521214010\_Hard\_Disk\_Drives\_Densities\_to\_Double\_by\_2016\_Analysts.html">http://www.xbitlabs.com/news/storage/display/20120521214010\_Hard\_Disk\_Drives\_Densities\_to\_Double\_by\_2016\_Analysts.html</a>>
- 17. File:Hard drive-en.svg Wikipedia, the free encyclopedia. at <a href="http://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/File:Hard\_drive-en.svg">http://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/File:Hard\_drive-en.svg</a>>
- Grochowski, E. An Analysis of Flash and HDD Technology Trends. 1–17 (2011). at <a href="http://edwgrochowski.com/publications.html">http://edwgrochowski.com/publications.html</a>
- Hard disk drive reliability and MTBF / AFR. at <a href="http://knowledge.seagate.com/articles/en\_US/FAQ/174791en?language=en\_US">http://knowledge.seagate.com/articles/en\_US/FAQ/174791en?language=en\_US</a>
- 20. Yinug, F. The Rise of the Flash Memory Market: Its Impact on Firm Behavior and Global Semiconductor Trade Patterns. at <a href="https://docs.google.com/viewer?url=http://www.usitc.gov/publications/332/journals/rise\_flash\_memory\_market.pdf">https://docs.google.com/viewer?url=http://www.usitc.gov/publications/332/journals/rise\_flash\_memory\_market.pdf</a>>
- Iwai, H. CMOS downsizing toward sub-10 nm. Solid. State. Electron. 48, 497–503 (2004).
- Yang, J. J., Strukov, D. B. & Stewart, D. R. Memristive devices for computing. *Nat. Nanotechnol.* 8, 13–24 (2013).
- 23. Yun, D. K. *et al.* Mass fabrication of resistive random access crossbar arrays by step and flash imprint lithography. *Nanotechnology* **20**, 445305 (2009).
- 24. Seagate HDD manual. at <http://www.seagate.com/www-content/productcontent/desktop-hdd-fam/en-us/docs/100743772a.pdf>

- 25. matt komorowski a history of storage cost. at <http://www.mkomo.com/cost-pergigabyte>
- 26. The impact of Area Density and millions of square inch of produced memory on petabyte shipments for NAND Flash and HDD storage Class. at <https://docs.google.com/viewer?url=http://www.digitalpreservation.gov/meetings/doc uments/storage13/GaryDecad\_Technology.pdf>
- 27. Why Flash Drive Density Will Stop Growing Next Year -EnterpriseStorageForum.com. at <http://www.enterprisestorageforum.com/technology/features/article.php/3904146/Wh y-Flash-Drive-Density-Will-Stop-Growing-Next-Year.htm>
- Lam, C. H. Storage Class Memory. in 2010 10th IEEE Int. Conf. Solid-State Integr. Circuit Technol. 1080–1083 (IEEE, 2010). doi:10.1109/ICSICT.2010.5667551
- An, C., V., Z. V. & A., H. J. Emerging Research Devices. *Futur. Fab Intl. Issue 44* 1 (2013). at <a href="http://www.future-fab.com/documents.asp?d\_ID=4999">http://www.future-fab.com/documents.asp?d\_ID=4999</a>>
- 30. Samsung Ships Industry's First Multi-chip Package with a PRAM Chip for Handsets. at <http://www.samsung.com/us/aboutsamsung/news/newsIrRead.do?news\_ctgry=irnews release&page=1&news\_seq=18828&rdoPeriod=ALL&from\_dt=&to\_dt=&search\_key word=>
- 31. Micron ships phase-change memory for Nokia phones | EE Times. at <a href="http://www.eetimes.com/document.asp?doc">http://www.eetimes.com/document.asp?doc</a> id=1280223>
- 32. Micron: Hot DRAM. We don't need no steenkin' PCM The Register. at <a href="http://www.theregister.co.uk/2014/01/14/phase\_change\_micron\_drops\_phase\_change\_memory\_products/">http://www.theregister.co.uk/2014/01/14/phase\_change\_micron\_drops\_phase\_change\_memory\_products/</a>>
- Hudgens, S. & Johnson, B. Overview of Phase-Change Chalcogenide Nonvolatile Memory Technology. *MRS Bull.* 29, 829–832 (2011).
- Wuttig, M. & Yamada, N. Phase-change materials for rewriteable data storage. *Nat. Mater.* 6, 824–32 (2007).

- Liu, C. W. Improved SPICE macromodel of phase change random access memory. in 2009 Int. Symp. VLSI Des. Autom. Test 134–137 (IEEE, 2009). doi:10.1109/VDAT.2009.5158113
- 36. Grynkewich, G. *et al.* Nonvolatile Magnetoresistive Random-Access Memory Based on Magnetic Tunnel Junctions. *MRS Bull.* **29**, 818–821 (2011).
- 37. Zhu, J.-G. Magnetoresistive Random Access Memory: The Path to Competitiveness and Scalability. *Proc. IEEE* **96**, 1786–1798 (2008).
- Arimoto, Y. & Ishiwara, H. Current Status of Ferroelectric Random-Access Memory. MRS Bull. 29, 823–828 (2011).
- Fujisaki, Y. Review of Emerging New Solid-State Non-Volatile Memories. Jpn. J. Appl. Phys. 52, 040001 (2013).
- Muller, G., Nagel, N., Pinnow, C.-U. & Rohr, T. Emerging non-volatile memory technologies. in *ESSCIRC 2004 - 29th Eur. Solid-State Circuits Conf. (IEEE Cat. No.03EX705)* 37–44 (IEEE). doi:10.1109/ESSCIRC.2003.1257065
- FRAM Microcontroller Overview MSP430 FRAM Series TI.com. at <a href="http://www.ti.com/lsds/ti/microcontrollers\_16-bit\_32-bit/msp/ultra-low\_power/msp430frxx\_fram/overview.page?DCMP=FRAM&HQS=FRAM></a>
- 42. IBM100 The IBM Punched Card. (2012). at <a href="http://www-03.ibm.com/ibm/history/ibm100/us/en/icons/punchcard/">http://www-03.ibm.com/ibm/history/ibm100/us/en/icons/punchcard/</a>
- IBM News room 2002-06-11 IBM's "Millipede" Project Demonstrates Remarkable Trillion-Bit Data Storage Density - United States. (2002). at <a href="https://www-03.ibm.com/press/us/en/pressrelease/659.wss">https://www-03.ibm.com/press/us/en/pressrelease/659.wss</a>
- 44. Vettiger, P. *et al.* The "millipede" nanotechnology entering data storage. *IEEE Trans. Nanotechnol.* **1**, 39–55 (2002).
- 45. Green, J. E. *et al.* A 160-kilobit molecular electronic memory patterned at 10(11) bits per square centimetre. *Nature* **445**, 414–7 (2007).

- 46. Kim, D. C. *et al.* Electrical observations of filamentary conductions for the resistive memory switching in NiO films. *Appl. Phys. Lett.* **88**, 202102 (2006).
- 47. Yang, J. J., Inoue, I. H., Mikolajick, T. & Hwang, C. S. Metal oxide memories based on thermochemical and valence change mechanisms. *MRS Bull.* **37**, 131–137 (2012).
- 48. Lu, W., Jeong, D. S., Kozicki, M. & Waser, R. Electrochemical metallization cells blending nanoionics into nanoelectronics? *MRS Bull.* **37**, 124–130 (2012).
- 49. Chang, W.-Y. *et al.* Unipolar resistive switching characteristics of ZnO thin films for nonvolatile memory applications. *Appl. Phys. Lett.* **92**, 022110 (2008).
- Xia, Q. *et al.* Two- and Three-Terminal Resistive Switches: Nanometer-Scale Memristors and Memistors. *Adv. Funct. Mater.* 21, 2660–2665 (2011).
- Yang, J. J. *et al.* Memristive switching mechanism for metal/oxide/metal nanodevices. *Nat. Nanotechnol.* 3, 429–33 (2008).
- 52. Hoff, T. Memristics : Why memristors won 't change anything.
- 53. Williams, R. S. A short history of memristor development. at <regmedia.co.uk/2011/12/22/hp\_memristor\_history.pdf>
- Meuffels, P. & Soni, R. Fundamental Issues and Problems in the Realization of Memristors. 14 (2012). at <a href="http://arxiv.org/abs/1207.7319">http://arxiv.org/abs/1207.7319</a>
- Chua, L. Memristor, Hodgkin-Huxley, and edge of chaos. *Nanotechnology* 24, 383001 (2013).
- 56. Lu, W. Memristors: Going active. Nat. Mater. 12, 93–94 (2013).
- 57. Pickett, M. D., Medeiros-Ribeiro, G. & Williams, R. S. A scalable neuristor built with Mott memristors. *Nat. Mater.* **12**, 114–117 (2013).
- 58. Valov, I., Waser, R., Jameson, J. R. & Kozicki, M. N. Electrochemical metallization memories--fundamentals, applications, prospects. *Nanotechnology* **22**, 254003 (2011).
- Waser, R. & Aono, M. Nanoionics-based resistive switching memories. *Nat. Mater.* 6, 833–40 (2007).

- Gibbons, J. F. & Beadle, W. E. Switching properties of thin Nio films. *Solid. State. Electron.* 7, 785–790 (1964).
- 61. Cohen, M. H., Neale, R. G. & Paskin, A. A model for an amorphous semiconductor memory device. *J. Non. Cryst. Solids* **8-10**, 885–891 (1972).
- Moser, A. Bistable Switching in Metal-Semiconductor Junctions. *Appl. Phys. Lett.* 20, 244 (1972).
- Tanaka, K., Uemura, Y. & Iwata, M. Effect of oxygen pressure on the voltagecontrolled negative resistance of Al-AlN-Au devices. *Thin Solid Films* 50, L25–L27 (1978).
- 64. Oxley, D. P. Electroforming, Switching and Memory Effects in Oxide Thin Films. *Electrocompon. Sci. Technol.* **3**, 217–224 (1977).
- 65. Sliva, P. ., Dir, G. & Griffiths, C. Bistable switching and memory devices. *J. Non. Cryst. Solids* **2**, 316–333 (1970).
- 66. Henisch, H. K. Switching in organic polymer films. Appl. Phys. Lett. 24, 589 (1974).
- 67. Ma, L. P., Liu, J. & Yang, Y. Organic electrical bistable devices and rewritable memory cells. *Appl. Phys. Lett.* **80**, 2997 (2002).
- 68. Kaltenbrunner, M. *et al.* Ultrathin and lightweight organic solar cells with high flexibility. *Nat. Commun.* **3**, 770 (2012).
- Scott, J. C. & Bozano, L. D. Nonvolatile Memory Elements Based on Organic Materials. *Adv. Mater.* 19, 1452–1463 (2007).
- 70. Bandyopadhyay, A. & Pal, A. J. Multilevel conductivity and conductance switching in supramolecular structures of an organic molecule. *Appl. Phys. Lett.* **84**, 999 (2004).
- Pan, F., Gao, S., Chen, C., Song, C. & Zeng, F. Recent progress in resistive random access memories: Materials, switching mechanisms, and performance. *Mater. Sci. Eng. R Reports* 83, 1–59 (2014).

- Nau, S., Sax, S. & List-Kratochvil, E. J. W. Unravelling the nature of unipolar resistance switching in organic devices by utilizing the photovoltaic effect. *Adv. Mater.* 26, 2508–13 (2014).
- Pagnia, H. & Sotnik, N. Bistable switching in electroformed metal–insulator–metal devices. *Phys. Status Solidi* 108, 11–65 (1988).
- Lauters, M., McCarthy, B., Sarid, D. & Jabbour, G. E. Nonvolatile multilevel conductance and memory effects in organic thin films. *Appl. Phys. Lett.* 87, 231105 (2005).
- 75. Chen, J. & Ma, D. Performance improvement by charge trapping of doping fluorescent dyes in organic memory devices. *J. Appl. Phys.* **100**, 034512 (2006).
- 76. Joo, W.-J. *et al.* Metal filament growth in electrically conductive polymers for nonvolatile memory application. *J. Phys. Chem. B* **110**, 23812–6 (2006).
- 77. Kim, M. & Kim, O. Unipolar Resistance Switching in Polymeric Resistance Random Access Memories. *Jpn. J. Appl. Phys.* **48**, 06FD02 (2009).
- Wu, C. *et al.* Efficient Nonvolatile Rewritable Memories Based on Three-Dimensionally Confined Au Quantum Dots Embedded in Ultrathin Polyimide Layers. *Jpn. J. Appl. Phys.* 50, 030204 (2011).
- 79. Son, D. I. *et al.* Flexible organic bistable devices based on graphene embedded in an insulating poly(methyl methacrylate) polymer layer. *Nano Lett.* **10**, 2441–7 (2010).
- Baral, J. K. *et al.* Organic memory using [6,6]-phenyl-C(61) butyric acid methyl ester: morphology, thickness and concentration dependence studies. *Nanotechnology* 19, 035203 (2008).
- 81. Lai, Y.-C. *et al.* Low operation voltage macromolecular composite memory assisted by graphene nanoflakes. *J. Mater. Chem. C* **1**, 552 (2013).
- Kondo, T. *et al.* A Nonvolatile Organic Memory Device Using ITO Surfaces Modified by Ag-Nanodots. *Adv. Funct. Mater.* 18, 1112–1118 (2008).

- Paul, S., Kanwal, A. & Chhowalla, M. Memory effect in thin films of insulating polymer and C 60 nanocomposites. *Nanotechnology* 17, 145–151 (2006).
- Simmons, J. G. & Verderber, R. R. New Conduction and Reversible Memory Phenomena in Thin Insulating Films. *Proc. R. Soc. A Math. Phys. Eng. Sci.* 301, 77– 102 (1967).
- 85. Dearnaley, G., Stoneham, A. M. & Morgan, D. V. Electrical phenomena in amorphous oxide films. *Reports Prog. Phys.* **33**, 1129–1191 (1970).
- Pender, L. F. & Fleming, R. J. Memory switching in glow discharge polymerized thin films. J. Appl. Phys. 46, 3426 (1975).
- Tang, W. *et al.* Memory Effect and Negative Differential Resistance by Electrode-Induced Two-Dimensional Single- Electron Tunneling in Molecular and Organic Electronic Devices. *Adv. Mater.* 17, 2307–2311 (2005).
- Tseng, R. J., Huang, J., Ouyang, J., Kaner, R. B. & Yang, Y. Polyaniline nanofiber/gold nanoparticle nonvolatile memory. *Nano Lett.* 5, 1077–80 (2005).
- 89. Teo, E. Y. H. *et al.* Non-volatile WORM memory device based on an acrylate polymer with electron donating carbazole pendant groups. *Org. Electron.* **7**, 173–180 (2006).
- Akinaga, H. & Shima, H. Resistive Random Access Memory (ReRAM) Based on Metal Oxides. *Proc. IEEE* 98, 2237–2251 (2010).
- Joo, W.-J., Choi, T.-L., Lee, K.-H. & Chung, Y. Study on threshold behavior of operation voltage in metal filament-based polymer memory. *J. Phys. Chem. B* 111, 7756–60 (2007).
- 92. Awais, M. N. & Choi, K. H. Resistive switching and current conduction mechanism in full organic resistive switch with the sandwiched structure of poly(3,4-ethylenedioxythiophene): poly(styrenesulfonate)/poly(4-vinylphenol)/poly(3,4-ethylenedioxythiophene): poly(styrenesulfonate). *Electron. Mater. Lett.* 10, 601–606 (2014).

- 93. Child, C. D. Discharge From Hot Cao. Phys. Rev. (Series I) 32, 492–511 (1911).
- Brehmer, L. Electrical transport in solids with particular reference to organic semiconductors. Von K. C. KAO und W. HWANG. 1. Auflage. Oxford/New York/Toronto/Sidney/Paris/Frankfurt: Pergamon Press 1981. 663 S., US \$ 120.-, £ 50.-. Acta Polym. 33, 91 (1982).
- 95. Silver, M., Mark, P., Olness, D., Helfrich, W. & Jarnagin, R. C. On the Observation of Transient Space-Charge-Limited Currents in Insulators. *J. Appl. Phys.* **33**, 2988 (1962).
- 96. Carbone, A., Kotowska, B. & Kotowski, D. Space-Charge-Limited Current Fluctuations in Organic Semiconductors. *Phys. Rev. Lett.* **95**, 236601 (2005).
- 97. Evgenij Barsoukov, J. R. M. Wiley: Impedance Spectroscopy: Theory, Experiment, and Applications, 2nd Edition. at <a href="http://eu.wiley.com/WileyCDA/WileyTitle/productCd-0471647497.html">http://eu.wiley.com/WileyCDA/WileyTitle/productCd-0471647497.html</a>
- 98. EIS Spectrum Analyser. at <a href="http://www.abc.chemistry.bsu.by/vi/analyser/">http://www.abc.chemistry.bsu.by/vi/analyser/</a>
- Yao, Y., You, Y., Si, W. & Wu, C.-Q. Modeling the underlying mechanisms for organic memory devices: Tunneling, electron emission, and oxygen adsorbing. *Appl. Phys. Lett.* 100, 263307 (2012).
- Wang, M. L. *et al.* Delayed-switch-on effect in metal-insulator-metal organic memories. *Appl. Phys. Lett.* 91, 143511 (2007).
- 101. Kim, T.-W. *et al.* A direct metal transfer method for cross-bar type polymer non-volatile memory applications. *Nanotechnology* **19**, 405201 (2008).
- Søndergaard, R., Hösel, M., Angmo, D., Larsen-Olsen, T. T. & Krebs, F. C. Roll-toroll fabrication of polymer solar cells. *Mater. Today* 15, 36–49 (2012).
- Rogers, J. A., Someya, T. & Huang, Y. Materials and mechanics for stretchable electronics. *Science* 327, 1603–7 (2010).
- 104. mylar1.4. at <a href="http://europe.dupontteijinfilms.com/media/40239/dtf\_capacitors\_brochure.pdf">http://europe.dupontteijinfilms.com/media/40239/dtf\_capacitors\_brochure.pdf</a>>

- 105. Pütz GmbH + Co. Folien KG Home. at <http://www.puetzfolien.com/wb/pages/deutsch/home.php>
- Seong, D.-J. *et al.* Highly reliable ReRAM technology with encapsulation process for 20nm and beyond. *2013 5th IEEE Int. Mem. Work.* 42–43 (2013). doi:10.1109/IMW.2013.6582093
- 107. SU-8 2000 Permanent Epoxy Resists :: MicroChem. at <a href="http://184.168.52.107/Prod-SU82000.htm">http://184.168.52.107/Prod-SU82000.htm</a>>
- Cölle, M., Büchel, M. & de Leeuw, D. M. Switching and filamentary conduction in non-volatile organic memories. *Org. Electron.* 7, 305–312 (2006).
- Cho, B. *et al.* Direct Observation of Ag Filamentary Paths in Organic Resistive Memory Devices. *Adv. Funct. Mater.* 21, 3976–3981 (2011).